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R E I T  M A N A G E M E N T  L I M I T E D



A Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) is an entity that professionally 
manages a pool of money from individuals and institutions to buy developed 
properties for rent, or to develop real estate and sell or rent it. The proceeds 
from rent or sale of the property are distributed to the unit holders.

ABOUT REITS



REIT Regulatory Framework in Pakistan was 
introduced by Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) in January 2008, 
subsequently replaced by REIT Regulations 2015 
as amended in 2018. These regulations are 
comprehensive with the principal focus on the 
protection of investors’ interests. A “REIT 
Scheme” is a listed, closed-end fund registered 
under Real Estate Investment Trust Regulations 
2015. The three types of REIT schemes in Pakistan 
are:

Developmental REIT: A Developmental REIT 
Scheme invests in the development of real estate 
for Industrial, Commercial or Residential purposes 
through construction or refurbishment. 

Rental REIT: A Rental REIT Scheme invests in 
Commercial or Residential real estate to generate 
rental income. 

Hybrid REIT: A REIT Scheme having both; a 
component for rent and for development.

REITS IN PAKISTAN
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SCHEME’S INFORMATION

Management Company Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited
  
Board of Directors Mr. Arif Habib  Chairman
 Mr. Nadeem Riaz  Director
 Mr. Naeem Ilyas Independent Director
 Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Independent Director
 Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Independent Director
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Director
 Mr. Faisal Nadeem  Director
 Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Director
 Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Chief Executive Officer

Audit Committee Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
 Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
 Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Member

Human Resource &  
Remuneration Committee Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson
 Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
 Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
 Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Member

Other Executives: Mr. Razi Haider CFO & Company Secretary
 Mr. Muneer Gader Head of Internal Audit & Compliance
  
Trustee: Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited  
 CDC House, 99-B, Block “B” S.M.C.H.S.  
 Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi.

03 | DOLMEN CITY REIT



Share Registrar:  CDC Share Registrar Services Limited  
 CDC House, 99-B, Block “B” S.M.C.H.S.  
 Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi.

Bankers: Bank Al Habib Limited 
 Askari Bank limited 
 Faysal Bank Limited 
 Habib Bank Limited 
 Habib Metropolitian Bank Limited 
 Meezan Bank Limited 
 United Bank Limited 
 Allied Bank Limited 
 Bank Alfalah Limited 
 Dubai Islamic Bank 
 National Bank of Pakistan

External Auditors KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants, Sheikh Sultan
 Trust Building No 2, Beaumont Road, Civil Lines, Karachi, 75530

Internal Auditors Junaidy Shoaib Asad & Co. Chartered Accountants, 1/6-P, P.E.C.H.S.,   
 Mohtrama Laeeq Begum Road, Off Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi.

Legal Advisor Mohsin Tayebaly & Co. Corporate Legal Consultants, 1st Floor, 
 Dime Centre, BC-4 Block 9, Kehkashan, Clifton, Karachi.

Property Manager  Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited

Property Valuer  Tristar International Consultant (Private) Limited

Shariah Advisor  Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Private) Limited

Rating Agency VIS Credit Rating Company Limited VIS House, 128/C, 25th Lane Off   
 Khayaban-e-Ittehad, Phase VII, DHA, Karachi.

Current Ratings DCR Rating: AAA (rr) (REIT Rating)
 RMC Rating: AM2+ (RMC) (Management Quality Rating)

Registered office of Arif Habib Centre, 23 M.T. Khan Road, Karachi.
Management Company 
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- “security, stability, resilience”

Providing our unit holders with regular, stable distributions and sustainable long term growth.

DELIVERING VALUE

- “all eyes on you”

As Pakistan’s first REIT, DCR aims to maintain its position as the premier 
office and retail Real Estate Investment Trust.

VISION

- “challenge the status quo and try new things”

Be a space where people aspire to work 
Inspiring you to achieve more

Be the place where people love to shop 
Enhance the customer experience to maximize shopper loyalty

To be the landlord of choice 
Optimizing the tenancy mix through proactive leasing

MISSION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Mr. Arif Habib
Chairman

Mr. Arif Habib is the Chief Executive of Arif Habib Corporation 
Limited, the holding company of Arif Habib Group. He is also 
the Chairman of Fatima Fertilizer Company Limited, Aisha 
Steel Mills Limited, Javedan Corporation Limited (the owner of 
Naya Nazimabad) and Sachal Energy Development (Pvt.) 
Limited and Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited.

Mr. Arif Habib remained the elected President/Chairman of 
Karachi Stock Exchange for six times in the past and was a 
Founding Member and Chairman of the Central Depository 
Company of Pakistan Limited. He has served as a Member of 
the Privatisation Commission, Board of Investment, Tariff 
Reforms Commission and Securities & Exchange Ordinance 
Review Committee. He has been a member of the Prime 
Minister’s Economic Advisory Council (EAC) and the 
Think-Tank constituted by the Prime Minister on COVID-19 
related economic issues. He is currently a member of the Prime 
Minister's Task Force on attracting Foreign Direct Investment 
(FDI).

Mr. Habib participates significantly in welfare activities. He 
remains one of the directors of Pakistan Centre for Philanthropy 
(PCP), Habib University Foundation, Karachi Education 
Initiative (KSBL), Arif Habib Foundation and Naya Nazimabad 
Foundation as well as trustee of Memon Health & Education 
Foundation (MMI) and Fatimid Foundation.

Corporate Responsibilities

As Chairman

Fatima Fertilizer Company Limited
Fatimafert Limited

Pakarab Fertilizers Limited
Sachal Energy Development (Private) Limited
Javedan Corporation Limited
Aisha Steel Mills Limited
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants (Private) 
Limited (formerly known as Arif Habib Real Estate 
Development Company (Private) Limited) 
Sapphire Bay Development Company Limited
Arif Habib Foundation
Naya Nazimabad Foundation
Black Gold Power Limited
Essa Textile and Commodities (Private) Limited

As Director

Arif Habib Equity (Private) Limited
Arif Habib Consultancy (Private) Limited
Fatima Cement Limited
International Builders and Developers (Private) Limited
NCEL Building Management Limited
Pakarab Energy Limited
Pakistan Business Council
Pakistan Engineering Company Limited
Pakistan Opportunities Limited

As Honorary Trustee/Director

Fatimid Foundation
Habib University Foundation
Karachi Education Initiative
Memon Health and Education Foundation
Memon Education Board
Pakistan Centre for Philanthropy

Mr. Nadeem Riaz 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz has experience of over 32 years in the real 
estate market developing and managing renowned and award 
winning residential, commercial and retail projects. He is a 
pioneer in developing international standard shopping malls in 
Pakistan, transforming the dynamics of the retail industry. 

Mr. Riaz is a member of both International Council of 
Shopping Centers and Middle East Council of Shopping 
Centers, since 2002. 

Directorships

DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Dolmen Project Management (Private) Limited
Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited
Grove (Private) Limited
International Complex Projects Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited
Sindbad Wonderland (Private) Limited
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Mr. Naeem Ilyas 
Independent Director 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas has over 30 years of strategic cum operational 
management level combined experience. He has served in senior 
positions across corporates including FMCG, Pharmaceuticals, 
Process Industry, Building MEP Design Consultancy, Digital 
healthcare , Proptech, e-Commerce, Information Technology. 
 
Mr. Naeem Ilyas is a Pakistan Engineering Council registered 
professional electrical engineer having MBA, LLB, MA (Eco), 
PGD (NILAT) degrees/diplomas and has specialization in 
operations management from LUMS / McGill. He has been 
instrumental in bringing about organizational and cultural 
changes in the organizations he has served. He is also serving as 
a board member of HANDS (not for profit), has also served as 
Founder Chairman PQATI (BQATI), Vice Chairman LATI, 
Chairman EFP-NICC Forum, Managing Trustee of MPF 
Educational Trust and Secretary General of Memon 

Professional Forum. He during his academics received President 
Talent Farming Scholarship and IAESTE Student Exchange 
Trainings in Central Asian States. He has professional hands on 
experience and trainings in Canada, Japan, Germany, China and 
Middle East. He is member of Pakistan Institute of Corporate 
governance (PICG) ,ICSP and Certified Director from IBA, 
Karachi. 

Corporate Responsibilities

As Director

Easy Health Tech Int'l (Private) Limited
Magna Engineering (Private) Limited 
Fahim, Nanji & Desouza (Private) Limited
Parents Pakistan (SMC-Private) Limited
Institute of Holistic Rehabilitation & Inclusion (IHRI) (Private) 
Limited

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed
Independent Director 

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed CFA, FRM is Head of Investment 
Banking Group at a large commercial bank. She is highly 
qualified with more than 19 years of diversified corporate and 
investment banking experience, a proven successful career in 
investment banking, corporate banking and corporate finance 
with profound skills in structured financing, infrastructure 
advisory, capital markets and Islamic finance. She has got 
diversified experience and has an in depth understanding of 
various sectors of the economy. In the past she has worked in 
senior position at CIBG NBP and Bank Alfalah where she 
started her career as Management Trainee Officer. 

She holds an MBA degree from IBA and is a CFA, FRM 
charter holder. She holds Real Estate Developer Finance 

Certification from Moody`s and various Islamic Banking 
certifications from NIBAF and IBA CEIF. She has completed 
the Directors Training Program and is a certified Independent 
Director. She is also a visiting faculty at IBA.

Corporate Responsibilities

As Director

Aisha Steel Mills Limited
Naymat Collateral Management Company Limited
United Brands Limited
Pakistan Railway Freight Transportation Company (Pvt) 
Limited

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhtar 
Independent Director

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (ICAP). He brings with him over 19 years of diversified 
experience in public and private organizations. He served in 
Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) for 
more than 13 years. Prior to joining SECP in May 2008, he 
worked with Pakistan Cables Limited, A. F. Ferguson & Co. He 
started his career from Taseer Hadi Khalid & Co. a member of 
KPMG International.

Corporate Responsibilities

Partnerships

Faizan Associates 
AabPara Residency 

Annual Report 2022 | 08



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Samad Habib is the Chief Executive of Javedan Corporation 
Limited, owner of Naya Nazimabad. He has remained Chairman 
and Chief Executive of Arif Habib Limited, a securities 
brokerage house, between the period 2004 to 2010.

At Naya Nazimabad, Mr. Samad Habib has worked towards 
making a positive impact on society providing a quality lifestyle 
to the middle income families of the city. He is now endeavoring 
to  transform the area to become a self-contained community of 
tens of thousands of families with the largest residential and 
commercial precinct development within the city of Karachi.

Corporate Responsibilities

Javedan Corporation Limited (Chief Executive)
Safemix Concrete Limited (Chief Executive)

As Chairman 

NN Maintenance Company (Private) Limited

As Director

Aisha Steel Mills Limited
Arif Habib Equity (Pvt.) Limited
Arif Habib Foundation
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants (Private) 
Limited (formerly known as Arif Habib Real Estate 
Development Company (Private) Limited) 
Black Gold Power Limited
Nooriabad Spinning Mills (Pvt.) Limited
Memon Health and Education Foundation
Pakarab Fertilizers Limited
Pakistan Opportunities Limited
Power Cement Limited
Rotocast Engineering Company (Pvt.) Limited
Sapphire Bay Development Company Limited
Sukh Chayn Gardens (Pvt.) Ltd.

Mr. Faisal Nadeem 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Faisal is a director at the Dolmen Group, one of Pakistan’s 
leading real estate organizations. He has been involved in the 
development, marketing and management of prime 
commercial and retail real estate projects including Dolmen 
Mall Clifton. 

Mr. Faisal started career as Manager Special Projects 
associated with the development of Dolmen Mall Tariq Road, 
Dolmen Mall Hyderi, Dolmen Food Courts, The Harbour 
Front Office Tower and Dolmen Mall Clifton. 

He later served in the capacity of Director Leasing, for the 
Dolmen property portfolio. He is currently serving as the Chief 

Operating Officer at Dolmen Real Estate Management (Pvt.) 
Limited, which manages over 2 million square feet of prime 
retail and commercial space. 

Corporate Responsibilities

As Director

International Complex Projects Limited
Sindbad Wonderland (Private) Limited
Grove (Private) Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited
DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Dolmen Project Management (Private)  Limited
Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private)  Limited
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Mr. Sajid Ullah Sheikh 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh is a Fellow member of Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Pakistan. His association with 
Dolmen Group spans over 11 years and he is currently working 
as Group Director Finance and Procurement at the Dolmen 
Group. He started his career with KPMG Taseer Hadi and Co. 
later joined Avery Dennison Pakistan before associating with 
Dolmen Group. 

Corporate Responsibilities

As Director

Grove (Private) Limited
DHA Dolmen Lahore (Private) Limited

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz
Chief Executive

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz is the founding Chief Executive of Arif 
Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited, Pakistan’s 
pioneering REIT Management Company. He has been 
associated with Arif Habib Group since August 2008 and sits on 
the board of several group companies. He has spear headed 
several group projects when these were at a critical stage during 
their execution.

Prior to joining Arif Habib Group, Ejaz has served at senior 
positions with both local and international banks. He was the 
Treasurer of Emirates NBD bank in Pakistan and served Faysal 
Bank Pakistan as Regional Head of Corporate Banking Group. 
He also served Saudi-Pak bank (now Silk bank) as Head of 
Corporate and Investment Banking. He also had short stints at 
Engro Chemical and American Express bank.

Ejaz did his graduation in Computer Science from FAST, ICS 
and did MBA in Banking and Finance from IBA, Karachi, 
where he has served as a visiting faculty member. He has also 
conducted programs at NIBAF-SBP and IBP. He is a Certified 
Director and also a Certified Financial Risk Manager.

He actively participates in the group's CSR initiatives especially 
those, which render services in the fields of health and education 
with emphasis on female literacy.

Corporate Responsibilities

As Director

Arif Habib Corporation Limited
Arif Habib Development and Engineering Consultants (Private) 
Limited  (formerly known as Arif Habib Real Estate 
Development Company (Private) Limited) 
Javedan Corporation Limited 
Sachal Energy Development (Private) Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
Dear Unitholders of Dolmen City REIT

The Board of Directors Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited, the REIT Management Company 
(RMC), have issued a separate report on the performance and the future outlook of Dolmen City REIT (DCR). 

The Board is responsible overseeing the Management of the REIT and in turn the Unitholders’ best interest.

I, in my capacity of Chairman of the Board, am issuing this report on my assessment of the performance of the 
Board.

It gives me great satisfaction to report that the Board has been meeting regularly and maintained continuous 
oversight and while being cognizant of its role and responsibilities, which it has carried out diligently in order to 
up hold the best interest of the Unit holders of DCR.

The Board’s composition has a balance of executive, non-executive and independent directors and the Board, as 
a whole, has the core competencies, diversity, requisite skills, knowledge and experience necessary in the context 
of the DCR’s operations.

The Board has formed Audit, as well as Human Resource and Remuneration Committees. It has approved the 
Committees’ Terms of Reference (TORs) and ensured that the respective members of the Committees are 
equipped with the necessary resources required by them to carry out assigned roles and responsibilities. 

Throughout the year, the Management continued to bring all significant issues before the Board and its 
Committees to ensure robustness of the decision making process; in particular,  all the related party transactions 
entered into, were brought to the Board’s attention and were reviewed in detail by the Audit committee and 
thereafter, the Board. 

The Board has developed and has been ensuring the implementation of a Code of Conduct covering professional 
standards, ethical practices and corporate values, that have been adhered to in the Management Company’s 
conduct, as well as in managing DCR by the Management with respect to the day-to-day operational activities.

The Board carried out an evaluation of the Board’s own performance and that of its Committees, as well as that of 
individual Directors. The Board is extremely satisfied with the result of its self-assessment.

All meetings of the Board, as well as those of its Committees were held with the requisite quorum and all the 
decisions were taken through Board resolutions. The minutes of the Board meetings, as well as that of its 
Committees were accurately recorded and circulated amongst the Members with regularity and timeliness.  The 
Board and the Audit Committee have reviewed and are satisfied that there are adequate systems of internal control 
in place and that these were regularly assessed for implementation and adequacy.

All the key executives of the Management Company who serve the best interest of the Unitholders of DCR, were 
evaluated and appropriate compensation was given so as to ensure that they perform their respective functions 
diligently. The key executives included the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary 
and the Head of Internal Audit.

The Board has prepared and approved the Directors Report and has ensured that the Directors Report is published 
with the Quarterly and Annual Financial Statement of the Scheme and the contents of the Directors Report are in 
accordance with the requirement of applicable laws and regulation.
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The Board exercised its powers in light of the power assigned to the Board in accordance with the relevant laws 
and regulation applicable on DCR and it has ensured  compliance with all the applicable laws and regulation while 
exercising their powers and making decisions.

The evaluation of the Boards performance is assessed based on those key areas where the Board require clarity in 
order to provide high level oversight, including strategic process, key business drivers and performing milestones, 
the economic environment in which the Scheme operates, the risks faced by Scheme Business, Board Dynamics, 
Capability and information flows. Based on the aforementioned, it can be reasonably be stated the Board of 
Dolmen City REIT has played a key role in ensuring that Scheme objectives are achieved through a joint effort 
with the management team and guidance and oversight by the Board and its members.

Arif Habib 
Chairman 

28 September 2022     
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Dear Unitholders of Dolmen City REIT

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited, we are pleased to present 
the Annual Report of Dolmen City REIT (“DCR” or “the Scheme”) and the audited financial statements for the 
financial year ended June 30, 2022 together with auditors’ report and other statutory reports.

Overview

FY22 was predicted to be a year in which the world moved back to normalcy from extremely challenging period  
for retail spending, business growth and overall economy owing to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The pioneering Rental REIT of Pakistan - DCR continues to deliver strong results amidst the pandemic and 
weathered the challenges with prudent property management. DCR’s performance and its close relationship with 
tenants is evident through sustenance of AAA (rr) – rating (highest investment quality and highest degree of 
stability in NAV) by the Rating Agency ,its financial performance and satisfactory Shariah Compliance. 

Response to the Outbreak of  COVID-19

In the backdrop of covid impact translating in to dwindling business activity and subpar footfall; selected group of 
tenants were facilitated with waivers / discounts and deferment of rent escalations to cover their losses. Discounts 
were specifically allowed only to tenants of Food Court. However, this year discounts and waivers allowed were 
much lower compared to those given in the last year. 

Operational Performance

DCR’s real estate has witnessed consistent occupancy levels since inception in 2015. Occupancy at the end of 
June 2022 was 98.07% (June 30, 2021: 94.71%).

While waivers / deferment of escalations in rent resulted in lower growth of rental Income, we view this as a 
long-term strategic measure to strengthen our partnership with tenants and envision robust performance going 
forward. The payoff of this investment in tenant retention has been the substantial reduction in the monthly rent 
waivers and new tenants coming in including Gloria Jeans, Diesel, Tesoro, Hemani Herbal, The Closet, and Lamy 
among others. Our tenancy strategy is focused on encouraging footfall and retail spending through selecting 
tenants that help each other increase sales by creating shopping / purchasing synergies resulting in higher overall 
sales volumes from mall operations. Space for new tenants was created by outgoing  tenants including Seats, 
Urban Brands, Michael Kors & Tory Burch and Range Enterprises among others. The vacant space is now 
utilized for new tenants resulting in a better and more diverse consumer buying experience. 

Occupancy level at Dolmen Mall Clifton and Harbour Front at year end is as follows:
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As on June 30 2022, the Weighted Average Lease Expiry ‘WALE’ based on the leasable area of Dolmen City 
Mall (68% of the total area) is around 2.39 years and of the Harbour Front (32% of the total area) is around 3.66 
years (DCR’s current average lease expiry is 3.02 years). 

Financial Performance 

DCR’s fund size as on June 30 2022 was PKR 64.029 billion (June 30 2021: PKR 57.42 billion) making it the 
biggest closed-end, Shariah compliant, listed instrument in Pakistan. 

During the year under review, DCR recorded rental income of PKR 3,573.664 million (June 30 2021: PKR 
2,938.661 million), marketing income of PKR 221.536 million (June 30 2021: PKR 147.393 million) and profit 
on Shariah compliant bank deposits of PKR 126.748 million (June 30 2021: PKR 86.611 million). 

Administrative, operating and other expenses amounted to PKR 646.047 million (June 30 2021: PKR 527.06 
million). 
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An amount of 6.486 billion was also recorded as change in fair value of investment property as valued by Tristar 
International Consultant (Private) Limited, an independent valuer (Refer to note 4 to the financial statements). 
This translates to Profit after tax of PKR 9.763 billion (June 30 2021: PKR 8.61 billion) and Earning per unit 
(EPU) of PKR 4.39. The EPU comprises of distributable income of PKR 1.47 and PKR 2.92 being 
un-distributable unrealised fair value gains. The valuation opinion is a critical component for both the half-year 
and annual financial results. The Board has had full access to each valuation while reviewing the financial 
statements with the management and is satisfied that the fair valuation of the REIT properties were conducted in 
accordance with the rules. 

DCR Tenancy Profile

Existing occupancy of the real estate is held by credible tenants (mostly international brands and multinational 
corporations) with a track record of financial stability. Dolmen Mall Clifton anchored by Hyperstar and Sindbad 
has a strong mix of local and international brands including Mango, Next, Nike, Aldo, Khadi, Timberland and 
Charles & Keith creating a strong, steady flow of customers. The highest occupancy by tenant retail category is 
apparel (40.90%) followed by food (12.47%) while other categories represent an even tenancy mix. The mall 
provides a strong customer experience as it accommodates all top local and international brands currently 
operating in the city. 
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The Property Manager of DCR played an instrumental role in maintaining goodwill, tenancies and brand image 
enticing customers to visit, shop and be part of the Dolmen Mall experience. At the same time they kept the 
maintenance, health and safety of DCR assets at the highest quality standards under close monitoring by the REIT 
Management Company. Property Manager’s experience in devising tenancy strategies played an instrumental 
role in tenant retention with overall occupancy levels being maintained throughout the year.    

Footfall Drivers 

Customer centric marketing and branding activities at the Mall during the fiscal FY22 resulted in maintaining a 
healthy footfall. Independence Day, New Year celebrations & Dolmen Shopping Festival all significant occasion 
of the seasons were beautifully celebrated  at the Dolmen City Mall. 

The current tenant portfolio of The Harbour Front boasts leading local and multinational corporations such as 
Engro Corp, Phillip Morris, Mitsubishi Corp. and Procter & Gamble, amongst others. There are 17 lettable floors.  
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As you can see on the graph average monthly footfall was 585,085 visitors compared with 535,714 visitors in 
FY21. DCR welcomed around 7.021 Million visitors during FY22 compared to 6.43 Million visitors in FY21.

Below we present the details of the prominent activities in the Mall through the year.  

Eid Ul Adha: 

Eid Ul Adha is one of the most auspicious religious festivals across the country. The event was held from 12th 
July 2021 to 24th July 2021, Purpose of the campaign was to infuse the festivities of Eid in mall through thematic 
ambiance and to take the opportunity of high footfall period to enhance and improve customer. This year the mall 
showcased extensive thematic decorations. 

Independence Day: 

14th August, Independence Day celebration is one of the most important and anticipated events every year in all 
the Dolmen Malls. However, this year, due to COVID and government restrictions, we held comparatively 
low-key celebrations. To ensure all SOPs, we limited the event to photo-ops & thematic mall ambiance and 
avoided close engagement activities. The plan was to give a smile and patriotic feel to our customers during the 
period. The customers were given chances to win exciting prizes through the lucky draws and social media of 
Dolmen Malls.

Defence Day: 

6th September- Defence Day is celebrated in memory of the sacrifices, the Pakistani armed forces made in the war 
of 1965. We had celebrated the event with full zeal and enthusiasm through full blown decorations theme of 
Defense Day. The activities that took place during the event were: 

• Topography Photo Exhibition 
• Kids Art Competition

Dolmen Wheels on Show: 

The Dolmen Wheels on Show turned out to be the most interactive event of the year 2021-22, it was held on 20th 
September 2021 to 29th September 2021. Despite the threat and fear of COVID, the customers gave huge 
appreciation to the event while observing the governmental SOPs. 

The Idea behind ‘Dolmen Auto Show’ was to create an exhibition of cycles, cars, bikes, and other motor vehicles 
throughout the mall to invite & engage Auto Fans and Enthusiasts to provide them with an opportunity to explore 
different automobile services brands, vintage car exhibition, luxury bikes & cycles options under one roof. 

The event consisted of: 

• Display of Super & vintage classic cars
• Car Accessories 
• Display of Super bikes 
• Spin the wheel and win lucky prizes
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BeYoutify with Dolmen  

The beauty festival held on 15th October 21 to 16th November 21 is one of the most awaited event of Dolmen 
Mall’s calendar and this year it was celebrated with the same feel & engagements as previous years while adhering 
the coronavirus SOP’s. The purpose of the event was to bring the best brands from the beauty & personal care 
industry under one roof and give customers a chance to interact with experts through the platform  of different 
brands and provide a chance for them to participate in activities to win gift hampers.  The objective of the event 
was to enhance the customer’s loyalty towards Dolmen.

Dolmen Shopping Festival 

Dolmen Shopping Festival’28 was the biggest shopping extravaganza of the year not just for  Dolmen Malls, but 
for the entire mall industry in Pakistan. The shopping coupled with entertainment, mega setups, alluring décor and 
unlimited giveaways were the key highlights of the event. The 28th version of DSF embarked from 17th Dec 2021 
till 9th Jan 2022. The event comprised of the following:

•  Thematic Mall Ambiance
•  Activations & Creative Installations
•  Entertainment & Games
•  External Communication & community engagement
•  Lucky Draws & Exciting Gifts

The purpose of the event was to reward the shoppers with Mega lucky draw gifts, games and entertainment. All 
these efforts focused on creating a memorable journey for customers with Dolmen Mall and encourage them to 
shop more.

Perfect Present

The event of Perfect Present was held from 8th –14th February 2022 to integrate the seasonal festivities with the 
internal mall activities. The event is a perfect welcome to the new season bringing pleasure to everyone. The aim 
of the event was to create an engaging ambiance to enhance in mall experience. The mall was beautifully 
decorated & engaging setups were placed by different event partners to add value in the overall success of the 
event. The main purpose of the event was to create a platform for the brands where they can offer gifting options 
for the loved ones. Dolmen mall to create a lasting customer experience placed a beautiful gift-wrapping van 
where customer with the shopping worth of PKR 5000 or above could get a free gift wrapping through our 
gift-wrapping partner Wrap n Roll.

Home Meets Style

Dolmen Home Meets turned out to be a great success amidst the restrictions of Coronavirus for the mall, it was 
commenced on 24th February 2022 to 1st March 2022. The purpose of the event is to bring the best brands from 
the home décor & Furniture industry under one roof and give customers a chance to interact with experts through 
the platform of different brands and provide a chance for them to participate in activities to win gift hampers. The 
objective of the event and engagements was to enhance the customer’s loyalty towards Dolmen. The mall was 
exquisitely decorated, and banners were placed to create a good communication of the event within mall.

International Women’s Day 

Women’s Day commenced from 4th March 2022 to 8th March 2022 this year. The aim of the event was to give 
tribute to the women of our society and make them feel empowered. We placed a setup in the main atrium to give 
our valued women customer a perfect welcome to the event. Setup had engaging activities for the women such as 
pick an envelope for instant giveaways as well as make up beauty station for every woman with the shopping 
worth of PKR 5000 or above.
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Pakistan Day 

This 23rd March, Dolmen mall sought to evoke a sense of patriotism & pride in the citizens of Pakistan. Through 
engaging the audience with activities focused on ownership of our rich national heritage. This year the event 
started on 18th March and lasted till 23rd March. During the event most of the tenants were offering mega 
discounts due to which the footfall was high. During the event we placed a huge setup in the main atrium for the 
Pakistan Day celebration along with engaging activities to win instant prizes. The flag hoisting and cake cutting 
ceremony was hosted in the presence of partner NGO’s and celebrities to make it a memorable celebration.

Ramadan Kareem

Ramadan is the holiest month and also a biggest festival of Muslims worldwide. Ramadan is the most highest 
shopping season of the year as well which makes the Dolmen Mall a must place to visit during the season 
considering its diversified and various brands to shop from under one roof. Not only that, but Dolmen Mall 
provides various eateries & shopping opportunities with exclusive Iftar deals and Ramadan discounts for better 
customer experience. 

The mall was aesthetically decorated with ceiling decorations, arches, setups & creative installations all around the 
mall to give it a festive look. The event had the following activities:

• Lucky Draws 
• Dolmen Ramadan Bazaar 
• Photo-ops 
• Snap & Win 
• Celebrity Appearances.

Mother’s Day 

Mother’s Day was celebrated in the mall from 8th to 15th May, 2022 with the aim to pay tributes to mom and give 
recognition to their unlimited sacrifices in life as a mom. The idea is to celebrate motherhood  in the mall. The 
event is focused to provide different activities and setup to enhance customer experience.

• Decorations 
• Setups & Photo Ops 
• Brand Activations from different brands 
• Customized Photo frames by Dolmen

Dolmen Auto Show 

Dolmen Auto show was introduced as a new event in the Dolmen Events Calendar. The primary focus of the 
event was to bring the new Car launches to mall while also creating a new activation stream for the mall. The event 
was one of the most engaging of the year due to the fact that everybody loves car. The event partners were giving 
the free rides of these new launches for test as well. Below are the event partners:

• Hyundai Sonata 
• Peugeot 
• BAIC 
• Rinco Aria 
• Changan 
• HAVAL
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Summer Surprises

Summer Surprises (10th June to 30th June) is a month-long campaign that is being celebrated in Dolmen Malls to 
welcome and cherish the summer season. The campaign is divided into multiple events which include 
MangoMania, Father’s Day and other events. The main focused areas of the events are: All these events have 
turned out to be successful campaigns for pulling extra footfall, enhancing customer experience and improve 
business for brands. The key highlights and attractions are mentioned below:

• Thematic Ambiance 
• Photo ops 
• Lucky Draws 
• Setups & games

Distribution of Dividend

During the first nine months of the year the Board of Directors had declared and distributed interim dividends of 
PKR 1.09 / unit i.e. 10.91% in equal proportion on quarterly basis. At year end, the board declared and distributed 
a final dividend of PKR 0.41 / unit i.e. 4.10%. On a cumulative basis, DCR has declared and distributed total 
dividend of PKR 1.5 / unit providing annualized dividend yield equal to 15% based on par value and 13.63% for 
IPO Investors at a strike price of PKR 11 per unit. The total pay-out for the year ended 30 June 2022 remained at 
101.82% of distributable income equivalent to PKR 3,335.55 million. 

Shariah Compliance

Complying with Shariah guidelines, the fund’s real estate remained secure under Takaful policies by “A” rated 
Pakistani operators which have support from renowned international Re-Takaful syndicate. Shariah advisor, in his 
Annual Shariah Review Report, has confirmed compliance with Shariah principals in all aspects. 

Stocks Performance

During the twelve months period under review, ‘DCR’ traded on the Pakistan Stock Exchange at an average unit 
price of PKR 12.79 (compared with last year’s average PKR 11.16) touching a high of PKR 15.25 and a low of 
PKR 11.29 per unit. During the same period KSE100 index moved in the range from 40,879.93 to 48,112.21. In 
an extremely volatile market, the stock of DCR remained fairly stable with beta of 0.03 (which means for a given 
100% change in market KSE-100 Index, DCR would change only 3%, beta here represents low volatility and 
elasticity) and covariance with the market of 0.13 (which is a measure of the degree to which returns on two risky 
assets move in tandem, indicate low positive correlation of DCR stock performance with the market 
performance).

The Net Asset Value ‘NAV’ per Unit of DCR is PKR 28.79 at the year ended on June 30, 2022 (PKR 25.82 at 
June 30, 2021). DCR on its closing Unit price of PKR 13.52 on June 30, 2022 traded at a discount of 53.03% to 
its NAV. 
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Business Environment

Karachi’s real estate market is experiencing a strong bounce-back from the Corona slowdown, general economic 
shuffle which affected all sectors. While buyers remain cautious, especially with the judicial system focus on the 
demolition of properties with dubious approvals and deviations from permissible land use, demand for “clean” 
properties remains robust especially in the residential segment. Pricing has seen significant correction which is 
compounded by the Rupee devaluation and subsequent impact on construction costs. Fixed income tax rate 
introduced for projects registered under Amnesty scheme has seen several residential products hastily entering the 
market with a product for every budget. 

Office and retail segments have seen comparatively slower growth,   both in  terms of supply and 
consumption.Revenue and operating profits have remained sluggish amid the challenging economic environment. 
Recently, gradual recovery has been observed in these segments led mostly by smaller commercial offices and 
retail options in housing schemes.

Business Risk Summary

DCR’s business is sensitive to sustaining occupancy levels. Principal risks comprise: i) significant future supply 
of office and retail developments which try to undercut the pricing in the neighbourhood. However, such 
developments would be bound to compromise on the facilities management in order to draw economies; whereas 
DCR has already set the industry benchmark in this space demonstrating its importance to the occupants. ii) 
Rising interest rate scenario can make the DCR yield competitive, however, in the longer run REIT units will 
continue to provide stable returns and consistent growth to investors as an inflation hedged instrument, iii) Default 
by existing tenants; the risk of which is considered to be low at Dolmen City since majority tenants of DCR are 
either multinationals or big franchises and DCR’s Property Manager not only deploy stringent screening, profiling 
and tenancy sourcing policies but also monitors and maintains close liaison with every tenant.
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Outlook

Dolmen City remains the aspirational bench mark for office and retail developments across the country. Shuffling 
of tenants during the Covid times and challenging economics of the country has now settled down and tenancy 
remains stable with the mall and office space both operating at optimal occupancy. 

With professional property management, long lease expiries, extensive marketing activities, a healthy tenant mix 
and strong landlord tenant relationships, we remain confident that Dolmen City will remain the destination of 
choice for shoppers, retail operators and corporations alike. 

The mall footfall is rapidly approaching pre-Covid levels with the professional management carefully curating 
shopping events to attract customers throughout the year. As Covid has activated e-commerce in the country with 
online shopping on the rise, Dolmen has ensured the “mall experience” continues to pull in the crowds 
maintaining its status as the first customer choice for shopping. 

Going forward, rental escalations would be the prime revenue driver for the Mall. 

The Trustee, RMC, Shariah Advisor and the SECP together ensure 180 degree vigilance, and compliance to REIT 
Regulations and other applicable laws and standards. These factors continue to provide DCR’s Unit Holders with 
a rewarding investment.

Corporate Governance  

DCR is listed at the Pakistan Stock Exchange. The Board of the RMC and management are committed to observe 
the Code of Corporate Governance and are cognizant of their responsibilities to monitor operations and 
performance, enhance accuracy, comprehensiveness and transparency of financial and non-financial information 

The Board would like to state that proper books of accounts of DCR have been maintained and appropriate 
accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of financial statements. Accounting 
estimates as stated in note 2.4 of the financial statements are based on reasonable and prudent judgment. 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, are followed in the preparation of the 
financial statements. The system of internal controls is sound in design and has been effectively implemented and 
monitored. The financial statements of DCR present fairly its state of affairs, the result of its operations, cash flows 
and the movement in NAV. No material payment has remained outstanding on account of any taxes, duties, levies 
or charges. 

In compliance with the Code, the Board hereby reaffirms that there is no doubt about DCR’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and that there has been no departure from the best practices of corporate governance. 

It has always been DCR’s endeavour to excel through better Corporate Governance and fair and transparent 
practices.

Trading in Scheme’s Shares by Directors and Executives

A statement showing DCR’s shares bought and sold by RMC’s Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, Company Secretary and their spouses and minor family members is annexed as Annexure - I.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board and its Committee Meeting 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, Eight (08) Board Meetings, Five (05) Audit Committee Meetings and one 
(01) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee Meeting were held. Attendance by directors was as follows

* Mr. Arif Habib and Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter have been appointed as director on 11 January 2022 
and 17 March 2022 respectively.

Directors’ Remuneration

The Non- Executive Directors (including independent directors) but excluding those directors who are 
concurrently serving as Executive Directors in any of the Arif Habib Group of Companies are provided a 
remuneration for attending Board and its Committee Meetings as may be approved by the Board from time to 
time.

Further as and when the Board decides to assign any additional roles and responsibilities to any non-executive 
directors, the Board shall decide the remuneration to be provided to such director which is commensurate with the 
roles and responsibilities so assigned.

Composition of the Board

The current composition of the board is as follows:

Total Number of Directors:

(a) Male: 8
(b) Female: 1

Name of Director Board Meeting Audit
Committee

Human Resource
& Remuneration

Committee

Current Directors  

Mr Arif Habib * 2 - -
Mr Nadeem Riaz 4  - -
Mr Naeem Ilyas 8 5 -
Ms Tayyaba Rasheed 8 - 1
Mr Muhammad Noman Akhter * 2 - -
Mr Abdus Samad A. Habib 5 3 1
Mr Faisal Nadeem 7  - -
Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh 8 3 1
Mr Muhammad Ejaz 8 - 1

Directors resigned during
the financial year

Mr Nasim Beg 6 - -
Mr Mirza Mahmood  1 - -
Mr Qamar Hussain  2 2 -
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Committees of the Board:

Audit Committee 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter  Member

Human Resource & Remuneration Committee

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh  Member
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Member

Pattern of  Unitholding

The units of DCR are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange. There were 4,345 unitholders of DCR as of  30 June 
2022. The detailed pattern of unitholding and categories of unitholding of DCR including units held by Directors 
and Executives, if any, are provided as Annexure-II.

The pattern of Unit holding in DCR as at June 30, 2022 is detailed in Annexure ‘II’ to this report.

Composition:

Name Status

Mr. Arif Habib Chairman
Mr. Nadeem Riaz Non-Executive Director
Mr. Naeem Ilyas Independent Director
Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Independent Director
Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Independent Director
Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Non-Executive Director
Mr. Faisal Nadeem    Non-Executive Director
Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Non-Executive Director
Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Chief Executive Officer
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Financial and Business Highlights

The key operating and financial data have been given in summarized form under the caption “Financial & Business 
Highlights” along with and graphic representation as annexure to this report.

Audit Committee

As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Audit Committee continued to perform as per its Terms 
of Reference duly approved by the Board. 

Auditors

The present external auditors M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants, shall retire, and being 
eligible, have offered themselves for reappointment for the year ending on 30th June 2023. The external auditors 
hold satisfactory rating by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as required under their Quality 
Control Review Program. As suggested by the Audit Committee of RMC, the Board of RMC recommends 
reappointment of M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants, as auditors of DCR for the financial year 
ending on 30th June 2023 at a fee to be mutually agreed.

Election of  Directors

In accordance with the provisions of Section 161 of Companies Act 2017 (Section 180 of the repealed Companies 
Ordinance, 1984) the three years term of eight elected directors of RMC had been completed in  October 2021 and 
all Directors were retired. Fresh elections of Directors were held on October 26, 2021 and the number of Directors 
as fixed by the Board (eight in numbers) were elected unopposed. Further, Chairman, Chief Executive and 
sub-committees of the board were also appointed on the said date.

Post Balance Sheet Events

There have been no material changes since 30th June 2022 to the date of this report except the declaration and 
distribution of a final Cash Dividend @ Rs. 0.41 / unit i.e. 4.1 %. This was in addition to interim dividend declared 
and distributed @ Rs. 1.09 / unit i.e. 10.9%. The effect of such declaration shall be reflected in the next year’s 
financial statements.

Categories of Unit holders  Unit Held  %

Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children         16,093,982  0.72
Associated Companies, undertakings, and related parties   1,705,112,500  76.68
Executive - -
NIT and ICP                          -                    -
Banks, DFIs , NBFCs       322,589,333  14.51
Insurance Companies           7,519,018  0.34
Modarabas and Mutual Funds           2,514,500  0.11
General Public   
a. Local       149,306,235  6.71
b. Foreign           1,601,582  0.07
Others         18,962,850  0.85
Total 2,223,700,000 100%
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Related Party Transactions

In order to comply with the requirements of REIT Regulations and Code of Corporate Governance, DCR presented 
all related party transactions before the Audit Committee and Board of RMC for their review and approval. These 
transactions have been approved by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors in their respective meetings. The 
details of related party transactions have been provided in note 23 of the annexed audited financial statements. 
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ANNEXURE 1

Mr. Arif Habib  Chairman -  -  - 

Mr. Nadeem Riaz  Director  -  -  - 

Mr. Naeem Ilyas Director  -  -  - 

Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Director  -  -  - 

Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Director  -  -  - 

Mr. Abdus Samad A Habib  Director  -  -  - 

Mr. Faisal Nadeem  Director  -  -  - 

Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh  Director   436,000  -  - 

Mr. Muhammad Ejaz  Chief Executive  -  -  - 

Mr. Razi Haider CFO & Company Secretary  -  -  - 

Name Designation Units 
Bought

 Units 
Sold

 Remarks

Statement showing units bought and sold by Directors, CEO, CFO, Company Secretary and their 
Spouses and Minor Children from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

31 | DOLMEN CITY REIT



ANNEXURE II - PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
Categories of Unit Holders as at June 30, 2022

Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children 5  16,093,982  0.72
   
Executives  -     -     -   
   
Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties 3  1,705,112,500  76.68
   
NIT and ICP  -     -     -   
   
Banks Development Financial Institutions, Non-Banking
Financial Institutions 10  322,589,333  14.51
   
Insurance Companies 8  7,519,018  0.34
   
Modarabas and Mutual Funds 4  2,514,500  0.11
   
Others 51  18,962,850  0.85
   
General Public   
a. Local 4066  149,306,235  6.71
b. Foreign 198  1,601,582  0.07
   
Foreign Companies  -     -     -   

Totals  4345  2,223,700,000   100.00 
   

Categories No. of 
Unit holders

No. of 
Unit Held  Holding %
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PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
Categories of Unit Holders as at June 30, 2022

Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children
    
Faisal Nadeem 2  4,207,649   0.19 
Nadeem Riaz 1  6,860,000   0.31 
Uzma Nadeem 1  4,342,833   0.20 
Sajid Ullah Sheikh 1  683,500   0.03 
  5  16,093,982   0.72 
Executives    -     -   

Associated companies, undertakings and related parties 3  1,705,112,500   76.68  
  
NIT and ICP  -     -     -   
    
Banks Development Financial Institutions,
Non-Banking Financial Institutions 10  322,589,333   14.51 
    
Insurance Companies 8  7,519,018   0.34 
    
Modarabas and Mutual Funds 4  2,514,500   0.11 
    
Others  51  18,962,850   0.85 
    
General Public Foreign 198  1,601,582   0.07 
    
General Public Local 4066  149,306,235   6.71 
    
Foreign Companies  -     -     -   
    

Total  4345  2,223,700,000  100

Dolmen (Private) Limited 1  833,887,500   37.50 
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited 1  833,887,500   37.50 

Categories No. of 
Unit holders

No. of 
Unit Held  Holding %

Unit holders holding 10% or more No. of 
Unit Held  Holding
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PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
As of June 30, 2022
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PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
As of June 30, 2022
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PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
As of June 30, 2022
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1,255,001
1,325,001
1,555,001
1,615,001
1,630,001
1,880,001
1,905,001
1,995,001
2,205,001

to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to

475,000
480,000
485,000
500,000
510,000
525,000
530,000
535,000
550,000
570,000
605,000
615,000
660,000
685,000
700,000
760,000
780,000
795,000
805,000
845,000
900,000
905,000
960,000
990,000
1,000,000
1,010,000
1,050,000
1,075,000
1,085,000
1,185,000
1,200,000
1,255,000
1,260,000
1,330,000
1,560,000
1,620,000
1,635,000
1,885,000
1,910,000
2,000,000
2,210,000

473,000
477,500
484,450

3,999,000
505,500

1,050,000
528,000
534,700

1,100,000
566,500
604,000
610,500
660,000
683,500

2,100,000
1,520,000

780,000
794,000
805,000
844,500
897,000
903,500
960,000
986,149

6,000,000
1,010,000
1,050,000
1,075,000
2,164,333
1,181,500
1,200,000
1,255,000
1,255,500
1,326,500
1,558,333
1,620,000
1,630,500
1,880,500
1,909,000
6,000,000
2,206,000

# Of Unit holders Unit Holding'Slab Total Units Held
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PATTERN OF UNIT HOLDING
As of June 30, 2022

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2

4345

2,410,001
2,590,001
2,805,001
3,025,001
3,195,001
3,205,001
3,455,001
3,855,001
4,025,001
4,340,001
4,620,001
4,625,001
4,730,001
4,995,001
6,855,001
8,495,001
8,995,001

17,910,001
27,495,001
32,995,001
35,890,001
37,335,001
47,110,001
72,240,001
87,745,001

833,885,001

to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to

2,415,000
2,595,000
2,810,000
3,030,000
3,200,000
3,210,000
3,460,000
3,860,000
4,030,000
4,345,000
4,625,000
4,630,000
4,735,000
5,000,000
6,860,000
8,500,000
9,000,000
17,915,000
27,500,000
33,000,000
35,895,000
37,340,000
47,115,000
72,245,000
87,750,000
833,890,000

2,411,500
2,591,318
2,806,500
3,025,500
3,200,000
3,207,649
3,460,000
3,858,227
4,026,000
4,342,833
4,621,018
4,626,500
4,734,400
5,000,000
6,860,000
8,500,000
9,000,000

17,912,437
27,500,000
33,000,000
35,893,000
37,337,500
47,112,000
72,243,833
87,750,000

1,667,775,000
 2,223,700,000 

# Of Unit holders Unit Holding'Slab Total Units Held
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

90.69%

8.78%
8.99%

 4.74 
 4.41 

100.00%
0.76%
0.69%
144.69

0.08
 10.20 

 2,223,700,000 

 5,300 
 907 

 181,325 
 169,977 

 22,237,000 
 22,688,323 
 23,218,502 

87.04%

43.40%
44.07%

 9.86 
 6.50 

100.00%
10.40%
9.45%

 1.36 

7.98
 18.11 

 2,223,700,000 

 69,575 
 11,596 

 2,319,176 
 17,742,638 
 22,237,000 
 40,261,026 
 40,885,917 

85.79%

8.93%
9.07%

7.56
6.76

98.12%
11.50%
10.45%

 6.95 

 1.70 
 18.77 

 2,223,700,000 

 77,459 
 12,910 

 2,581,957 
 3,787,120 

 22,237,000 
 41,735,498 
 42,399,852 

85.13%

11.76%
11.97%

3.41
2.68

96.12%
12.00%
10.91%

 5.67 

 2.27 
 18.99 

 2,223,700,000 

 83,194 
 13,866 

 2,772,936 
 5,055,268 

 22,237,000 
 42,232,181 
 42,998,020 

85.45%

14.61%
14.86%

3.51
2.75

96.73%
13.20%
12.00%

 3.29 

 3.09 
 20.79 

 2,223,700,000 

 90,415 
 15,069 

 3,013,838 
 6,869,588 

 22,237,000 
 46,233,196 
 47,022,210 

86.63%

15.60%
15.83%

2.96
2.03

104.54%
12.50%
11.36%

 2.98 

 3.65 
 23.06 

 2,223,700,000 

 77,054 
 12,842 

 2,568,467 
 8,117,883 

 22,237,000 
 51,282,373 
 52,034,420 

86.33%

14.82%
14.99%

4.22
3.32

102.53%
12.40%
11.27%

2.85

3.87
25.82

 2,223,700,000 

 79,931 
 13,322 

 2,664,370 
 8,609,987 

 22,237,000 
 57,424,053 
 58,084,224 

86.39%

15.06%
15.25%

2.53
2.04

101.82%
15.00%
13.64%

 3.08 

4.39
28.79

2,223,700,000

 98,365 
 16,394 

 3,278,830 
 9,762,893 

 22,237,000 
 64,029,292 
 64,819,385 

Profitablility

Net Profit Margin
(Annualized Return for FY 15)
Return on total assets
Return on Unitholders' fund

Liquidity

Current ratio (in times)
Cash to current liabilities

Market Ratios

Dividend payout ratio
Dividend Yield (at par @ Rs.10 per unit)
Dividend Yield (as IPO strike  @ Rs.11 per unit)
P/E Ratio (in times)

Valuation

Earning per unit - Basic and diluted (PKR)
Net asset value per unit (PKR)
No. of ordinary units

Trends (PKR '000)

Management fee
Trustee fee
Net Operating Income
Profit before and after taxation
Unit Capital
Uniholders' fund
Total assets

30-Jun-15
(Based on
one month
operations)

30-Jun-1630-Jun-1730-Jun-1830-Jun-1930-Jun-2030-Jun-2130-Jun-22Financial Highlights
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Total Assets
Rupees in Million

 -

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Unit Holders' Fund
Rupees in Million

 -

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total Liabilities
Rupees in Million

 -
 100
 200
 300
 400
 500
 600
 700
 800
 900

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net Asset Value
Rupees

 -

 5.00

 10.00

 15.00

 20.00

 25.00

 30.00

 35.00

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Rental Income
Rupees in Million

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net Operating Income
Rupees in Million

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net Operating Margin
Percentage

82.00%
83.00%
84.00%
85.00%
86.00%
87.00%
88.00%
89.00%
90.00%
91.00%
92.00%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

EPU - Distributable Income
Rupees

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
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Address: Flat 503, 8th Floor Ibrahim Residency, C.P & Berar Society, Karachi. 
 +92 322 2671867|  www.alhamdshariahadvisory.com | info@alhamdshariahadvisory.com 

 
  

Shariah Review Report 
For the year ended June 2022 

 
Dolmen City REIT is a Shariah Compliant REIT launched in the month of June 2015. The 
structure of Dolmen CITY REIT is based on Shirkah and Ijarah. According to the structure, 
all unit holders are co-owners of the project (The Harbor Front and Dolmen Mall Clifton) 
and they will receive the dividends based on the income from rentals. Shirkah and Ijarah 
both are Shariah-compliant products. 

In the capacity of Shariah Advisor, we reviewed the transactions conducted during the 
year. We found all the investment and rental-related matters Shariah-compliant. 

In our opinion the business affairs of the said REIT have been generally carried out in 
accordance with the rules and regulations of Shariah, therefore we confirm that the 
income generated under this REIT for the unit holders is HALAL and SHARIAH 
COMPLIANT. 

We are thankful to the Directors and management of Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management 
Company, the trustee, property manager, and other stakeholders for providing full support and 
cooperation to make it Shariah-compliant, and our special thanks to all unit holders who 
invested in this REIT and showed full trust in this project. 

May Allah grant the management of REIT the best reward for their services, and may 
give in their mission more blessings and sincerity. Ameen 

 
 
______________________   ______________________ 
Mufti Muhammad Ibrahim Essa   Mufti Ubaid ur Rahman Zubairi 
C.E.O. & Director     Director 
Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited 
24th September 2022 
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 �رٹر ر�� �� 

 ٢٠٢٢�ن 

����� �ا REIT � �وڈ ��� �REIT �، ڈو� �۔�وع � � 2015� �ن REIT �د� ��   �   ا�رہ اور

ء ان �� ��ا�� �� وا� اور�  ء��)  �،��ل �(�ر� �� اور ڈو �ا� ،��رز ��� ��، �م ،� �

�  �� � ��  �
� �

 ۔�� � � � � �د دو�ںرہ اور ا� ��۔� در���ن �

 ا� داروں � �� ،�  ��ا �ذر ىد� � آ���REIT ��ت � �� � �ہ � ��ہ �، � REIT ڈو� �� � 

 �� �۔� �� 

�ا � اس  ،�  م د� �ا� �ا� و �ا� � �� ���� �ر � ��ت  ى� �رو�ر REIT ڈو� � ،را� � ى�ر

 � آ�� �ل اور �� � �� �۔ REIT� اس  �� � �� �ت �

�م �  �اور د � �ا�� ،�� ،� �REITڈو� �رف � � � �� ر� � ،�ن �م ��ت �ا �

� ا�د REIT�ں � اسار � ��� � ��رز ن �� ،�� � �� اُ ادا �� � ���� اور�ون �  � داروں 

 ۔ � � ى�ر ��� �� اور اس 

 � �۔�ا�ت � ا�ر �  � � � ا� اور ��� �� ��  �REITڈو� �  � � آ�

 

 

 � � ا�� ز�ى     � � ا�ا� �
 ڈا��      ڈا�� - � ، اى، او،

 � �� ا�وا�رى �و� (�ا�ٹ) �ا   ا� �� ا�وا�رى �و� (�ا�ٹ) �

 
 

 

٢٠٢٢، � ٢٤ 
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Statement of Compliance with Listed 
Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 for the year ended
30 June 2022.

Name of Company: Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited (the REIT Management Company or RMC)
For and on behalf of: Dolmen City REIT (the Scheme)
Year ended:  June 30, 2022

The RMC has complied with the requirement of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 
2019 (the Regulations) for and on behalf of the Scheme in the following manner:

1. The total number of directors are 9 (nine) comprising of eight elected directors and one deemed director 
composition is as follows:

 a) Male: 8
 b) Female: 1

2. The composition of the board is as follows:

 Category Names

 Non-Executive Director Mr. Arif Habib - Chairman
  Mr. Nadeem Riaz
  Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib
  Mr. Faisal Nadeem
  Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh

 Independent Director Mr. Naeem Ilyas
  Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter

 Female Director Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed  
 (Independent Director)

 Chief Executive Mr. Muhammad Ejaz
 (Deemed Director)

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed companies, 
including RMC;

 
4. The RMC has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate 

it throughout the RMC along with its supporting policies and procedures;

5. The Board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies of the 
RMC. The Board has ensured that a complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates of 
approval or updating is maintained by the RMC;
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6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken 
by Board / Management Company as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2017, 
REIT Regulations, 2015 and the Regulations;

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 
by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 
and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;

8. The Board of directors have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations;

9. Seven directors have a certification under Directors’ Training Program, one director of the RMC is 
exempt from the requirement of Director’s Training Program;

10. The Board has approved appointment of Chief Financial officer, Company Secretary and Head of Internal 
Audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with relevant 
requirements of the Regulations;

11. Chief Financial officer and Chief Executive officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval 
of the Board;

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:

 a)  Audit Committee

  Mr. Naeem Ilyas Chairman
  Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
  Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
  Mr. Muhammad Noman Akhter Member

 b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee

  Ms. Tayyaba Rasheed Chairperson
  Mr. Abdus Samad A. Habib Member
  Mr. Sajidullah Sheikh Member
  Mr. Muhammad Ejaz Member

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the 
committee for compliance;

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committees were as per following:

 a) Audit Committee: 5 meetings
 b) Human Resource & Remuneration Committee: 2 meetings

15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to M/s Junaidy Shoaib Asad & Co Chartered 
Accountants who are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant 
with the policies and procedures of the RMC;
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16. The statutory auditors of the Scheme have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating under 
the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and registered 
with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit are not 
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Company Secretary or director of the RMC;

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, the Regulations or any other regulatory requirement and the 
auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard;

18. We confirm that all requirements of the Regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 of the Regulations have been 
complied with; and

19. Explanation for non-compliance with requirements, other than regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 are 
below (if applicable):

20. We confirm that all other requirements of the Regulations have been complied with except for the 
requirement that the same person shall not simultaneously hold office of Chief Financial Officer and the 
Company Secretary of a listed Company. As the Regulations allow the Companies to either comply or 
explain the reason otherwise, therefore, the Company has adopted explanation approach as the 
management is of the view, that the current Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary is suitably 
qualified and professionally capable to act and fulfill the duties and responsibilities of both the roles. In 
addition, it is also a cost effective measure that is in the better interest of the shareholders of the RMC, 
therefore hiring a separate person for both position is not feasible.

For and behalf of the board.

Muhammad Ejaz       Arif Habib   
Chief Executive        Chairman

September 28, 2022
Karachi

S.No Requirement Explanation for not meeting 
non-mandatory requirements

Regulation
No.

Same person shall not 
simultaneously hold office of 
Chief Financial Officer and 
the Company Secretary of a 
listed Company.

This matter is explained in 
point number 20 (see below) 
of this statement.

1 24
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS





Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2022

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director

ASSETS

Non-current asset

Investment property

Current assets

Rent receivables
Advances and deposits
Advance tax
Accrued profit on deposits
Short-term investments
Bank balances
Total current assets

Total assets

UNIT HOLDERS' FUND AND LIABILITIES

Unit holders' fund

REPRESENTED BY:

Issued, subscribed and paid up units
(2,223,700,000 units of Rs. 10 each)
Capital Reserves
Revenue Reserve
Total unit holders' fund

Current liabilities

Payable to REIT Management Company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Unclaimed dividend 
Total current liabilities

Contingencies and commitments

Total unit holders' fund and liabilities

Net asset value per unit

The annexed notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of these financial statements.

4

5
6
7

8
9

10
11

12
13
14

15

Note

 50,413,476 

 

213,987 
 16,422 

 266,437 
 10,736 

 766,000 
 347,362 

 1,620,944 

 52,034,420 

 

22,237,000 
 28,457,822 

 587,551 
 51,282,373 

8,339 
 402,746 
 325,759 
 15,203 

 752,047 

 52,034,420 

 23.06 

1 July
2020

(Restated)

56,334,197 

 

160,917 
 2,476 

 204,131 
 7,489 

 640,729 
 734,285 

 1,750,027 

 58,084,224 

 

22,237,000  
34,378,543 

 808,510 
 57,424,053 

 25,113 
 405,983 
 217,275 

 11,800 
 660,171 

 58,084,224 

 25.82 

30 June
2021

(Restated)

----------------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------------

------------------ (Rupees) ------------------

 62,821,189 

 158,467 
 12,014 

 207,271 
 8,671 

 661,567 
 950,206 

 1,998,196 

 64,819,385 

 

22,237,000 
 40,865,535 

 926,757 
 64,029,292 

32,518 
 459,297 
 285,043 
 13,235 

 790,093 

 64,819,385 

 28.79 

30 June
2022
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Revenue
Rental income
Marketing income

Administrative and operating expenses
Impairment loss on rent receivables
Net operating income

Other income 

Management fee
Sindh sales tax on management fee
Trustee fee
Sindh sales tax on trustee fee

Profit before change in fair value of Investment property

Unrealised gain on remeasurement of fair value of Investment property
Profit before taxation

Taxation
Profit for the year

Earnings per unit - Basic and diluted

The annexed notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 30 June 2022

16
17

18
5.2

19

12.2
12.2
14.4
14.4

4

20

21

Note

 2,938,661 
 147,393 

 3,086,054 

 (421,684)
 -   

 2,664,370 

 130,272 
 2,794,642 

 (79,931)
 (10,391)
 (13,322)
 (1,732)

 (105,376)

 2,689,266 

 5,920,721 
 8,609,987 

 -   
 8,609,987 

3.87

30 June
2021

 3,573,664 
 221,536 

 3,795,200 

 (504,781)
 (11,589)

 3,278,830 

 126,748 
 3,405,578 

 (98,365)
 (12,787)
 (16,394)
 (2,131)

 (129,677)

 3,275,901 

 6,486,992 
 9,762,893 

 -   
 9,762,893 

 
4.39

 

30 June
2022

------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

-------- (Rupees) --------

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director
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Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

The annexed notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

 8,609,987 

 -   

 8,609,987 

30 June
2021

 9,762,893 

 -   

 9,762,893 

30 June
2022

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director
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Balance as at 30 June 2020
Transactions with owners:

Cash dividend for the year ended 
30 June 2020 (Re. 0.20 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2020 (Re. 0.25 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2020 (Re. 0.33 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2021 (Re. 0.33 per unit)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reclassification adjustment relating to
changes in fair value of investment property

Balance as at 30 June 2021
Transactions with owners:

Cash dividend for the year ended 
30 June 2021 (Re. 0.33 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
30 September 2021 (Re. 0.33 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 December 2021 (Re. 0.37 per unit)

Cash dividend for the period ended 
31 March 2022 (Re. 0.39 per unit)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reclassification adjustment relating to
changes in fair value of investment property

Balance as at 30 June 2022

The annexed notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes In Unit Holders' Fund
For the year ended 30 June 2022

--------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------
 51,282,373 

 (444,740)

 (555,925)

 (733,821)

 (733,821)
 (2,468,307)

 8,609,987 

 -   

 57,424,053 

 (733,821)

 (733,821)

 (822,769)

 (867,243)
 (3,157,654)

 9,762,893 

 -   

 64,029,292 

Total unit
holders'

fund

 587,551 

 (444,740)

 (555,925)

 (733,821)

 (733,821)
 (2,468,307)

 8,609,987 

 (5,920,721)

 808,510 

 (733,821)

 (733,821)

 (822,769)

 (867,243)
 (3,157,654)

 9,762,893 

 (6,486,992)

 926,757 

Revenue
Reserve

 28,457,822 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 5,920,721 

 34,378,543 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

-  

 6,486,992 

 40,865,535 

Total Unappro-
priated
profit

 28,176,476 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 5,920,721 

 34,097,197 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

-

 6,486,992 

 40,584,189 

Capital Reserves
Reserves

 281,346 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   

 281,346 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
-   

-
    

-  

 281,346 

Premium
on issue of
units - net
(note 11.1)

Fair Value
Reserve 

(note 11.2)

 22,237,000 

-

-

-

-

-

-

22,237,000

-

-

-

-
-

-

22,237,000

Issued,
subscribed

and paid
up units

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year

Adjustments for non cash items:

Unrealised gain on remeasurement of fair value of 
Investment property
Reversal of accruals - expenses no more payable
Impairment loss on rent receivables
Profit on deposits

Working capital changes

(Increase) / decrease in current assets:

Rent receivables
Advances, deposit and prepayments

Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:

Payable to the REIT management company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Cash generated from operations

Tax (paid) / refund
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Profit on deposits received
Purchase of short-term investments - net of maturity
Net cash generated from investing activities 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Net cash used in financing activity - dividend paid

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The annexed notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 20212022

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director

4
19
5.2
19

22

 8,609,987 

 
(5,920,721)

 (43,661)
 -   

 (86,611)
 2,558,994 

 

53,070 
 13,946 
 67,016 

 
16,774 
 3,237 

 (64,823)
 (44,812)

 2,581,198 
 

62,306 
 2,643,504 

 89,858 
 (40,729)

 49,129 

 (2,471,710)

 220,923 
 1,113,362 
 1,334,285 

 9,762,893 

 
(6,486,992)

 -   
 11,589 

 (126,748)
 3,160,742 

 

(9,139)
 (9,538)

 (18,677)

 
7,405 

 53,314 
 67,768 

 128,487 
 3,270,552 

 
(3,140)

 3,267,412 

 125,566 
 (3,249)

 122,317 

 (3,156,219)

 233,510 
 1,334,285 
 1,567,795 

-------- (Rupees in '000) --------
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1.

1.1

1.2

2.

2.1

2.1.1

2.2

STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Dolmen City REIT ("the Scheme") was established under Trust Deed, dated 20 January 2015, executed between Arif Habib 
Dolmen REIT Management Limited (AHDRML), as the REIT Management Company (RMC) and Central Depositary Compa-
ny of Pakistan Limited (CDCPL), as the Trustee. The Scheme is governed under the Real Estate Investment Trust Regula-
tions, 2015 (REIT Regulations, 2015), promulgated and amended from time to time by the Securities & Exchange Commis-
sion of Pakistan (SECP).

The Trust Deed of the Scheme was registered on 20 January 2015 whereas approval of the registration of the REIT Scheme 
was granted by the SECP on 29 May 2015. The Scheme is a perpetual, closed-ended, shariah compliant rental REIT. The 
Scheme is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange. On 22 September 2021, VIS Credit Rating Company Limited assigned rating 
"AAA(rr)" and "AM2+" to the Scheme and RMC respectively.

The registered office of the REIT Management Company is situated at Arif Habib Center, 23 M.T. Khan Road, Karachi. All of 
the activities undertaken by the Scheme including but not limited to deposits and placements with banks, rental and marketing 
income earned were all in accordance with principle of Shariah. The principal activity of the Scheme is to generate rental 
income through investment property and distribute the income generated to unitholders through dividends.

The Scheme commenced its commercial activities on 01 June 2015. The Scheme was the subsidiary of International 
Complex Projects Limited (ICPL) directly holding 75% of the units. The Board of Directors of the ICPL in its meeting held on 
22 April 2021 approved the scheme of arrangement for re-organization / re-arrangement of the Dolmen Group comprising 
restructuring of ICPL. The arrangement became effective on 01 July 2021 as sanctioned by the Honorable High Court of 
Sindh vide its Order dated 03 November 2021. Consequently, units held by ICPL were transferred to its associated undertak-
ings  i.e. Dolmen (Private) Limited and Al-Feroze (Private) Limited, as envisaged in the said scheme of arrangement in equal 
proportion.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in 
Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
 as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 and Part VIII A of the repealed Companies 
 Ordinance, 1984; and -

- The Real Estate Investment Trust Regulations 2015 (REIT Regulations, 2015).

Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, Part VIII A of the repealed Companies 
Ordinance, 1984 and REIT Regulations, 2015 differ from the IFRS standards, the provisions of and directives issued under 
Companies Act, 2017 and REIT Regulations, 2015 have been followed.

As per Regulation 29.2 of REIT Regulations, 2015 services provided, under the REIT Regulations, 2015, the Trust Deed, 
Offering Document or Information Memorandum, by the RMC, Trustee, Valuers or Property Manager are not deemed related 
party transactions. Accordingly, the disclosure requirements of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures' have not been followed.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for investment property, which 
has been measured at the fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2.3

2.4

2.5

Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees which is the functional and presentation currency of the 
Scheme. All figures have been rounded off to nearest thousand of rupees unless otherwise stated.

Key judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, 
requires management to make judgments, estimates, assumptions and use judgments that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

In the process of applying the Scheme's accounting polices, management has made the following accounting estimates and 
judgments which are significant to the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in 
future years:

- Investment property (notes 3.1 and 4);
- Allowance for impairment loss on rent receivables (notes 3.2.5 and 5); and
- Provisions and contingencies (notes 3.5 and 15).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards that are not yet effective

The following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 and 
the amendments and interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022:

- Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37) effective for the annual periods beginning 
 on or after 1 January 2022 clarifies that the 'cost of fulfilling a contract' for the purposes of the onerous contract 
 assessment comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract, including both the incremental costs and an 
 allocation of other direct costs to fulfil the contract. An entity is required to apply the amendments to contracts for 
 which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies 
 the amendments (the date of initial application). Restatement of comparative information is not required, instead the 
 amendments require an entity to recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an
 adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or other component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of 
 initial application.

- The following annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 are effective for annual reporting periods
 beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

- IFRS 9 – The amendment clarifies that an entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity (the
 borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf, when 
 it applies the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognize a financial liability.

- IFRS 16 – The amendment partially amends Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 by excluding the 
 illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor. The objective of the amendment is to resolve 
 any potential confusion that might arise in lease incentives.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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- IAS 41 – The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash 
 flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique. This amendment enables 
 the fair value measurement of biological assets on a post-tax basis.

- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) effective for annual periods 
 beginning on or after 1 January 2022 clarifies that sales proceeds and costs of items produced while bringing an 
 item of property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
 manner intended by management e.g. when testing etc., are recognized in profit or loss in accordance with
 applicable Standards. The entity measures the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of IAS 
 2. The standard also removes the requirement of deducting the net sales proceeds from cost of testing. An entity 
 shall apply those amendments retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment that are brought to 
 the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management 
 on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies 
 the amendments. The entity shall recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an
 adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the
 beginning of that earliest period presented.

- Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) - Reference to the Conceptual Framework, 
 issued in May 2020, amended paragraphs 11, 14, 21, 22 and 23 of and added paragraphs 21A, 21B, 21C and 23A 
 to IFRS 3. An entity shall apply those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 
 after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

- Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) apply retrospectively for the annual 
 periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments in the standards have been added to further 
 clarify when a liability is classified as current. Convertible debt may need to be reclassified as ‘current’. The standard 
 also amends the aspect of classification of liability as non-current by requiring the assessment of the entity’s right at 
 the end of the reporting period to defer the settlement of liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
 An entity's expectation and discretion at the reporting date to refinance or to reschedule payments on a long-term 
 basis are no longer relevant for the classification of a liability as current or non-current. An entity shall apply those 
 amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8.

- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) – the Board has issued 
 amendments on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies and to help companies provide 
 useful accounting policy disclosures. The key amendments to IAS 1 include:

 - requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting 
  policies;

 - clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are 
  themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and

 - clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or conditions are 
  themselves material to a company’s financial statements.

 The Board also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2 to include guidance and two additional examples on the 
 application of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments are effective for annual reporting 
 periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted.

- Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) introduced a new definition for accounting estimates 
 clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. 
 The amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying 
 that an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. The
 amendments are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application permitted, and

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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3.

3.1

3.2

3.2.1

 will apply prospectively to changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies occurring on or after 
 the beginning of the first annual reporting period in which the company applies the amendments.

- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) narrow the 
 scope of the initial recognition exemption (IRE) so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and 
 offsetting temporary differences. As a result, companies will need to recognize a deferred tax asset and a deferred 
 tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision. For 
 leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need to be recognized 
 from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognized as an
 adjustment to retained earnings or other components of equity at that date. The amendments are effective for 
 annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted.

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and 
 IAS 28) – The amendment amends accounting treatment on loss of control of business or assets. The amendments 
 also introduce new accounting for less frequent transaction that involves neither cost nor full step-up of certain 
 retained interests in assets that are not businesses. The effective date for these changes has been deferred
 indefinitely until the completion of a broader review.

The above standards, interpretations and amendments are not likely to have a significant impact on Scheme's financial 
statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. The Scheme has 
consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Investment Property

Investment property is the property which is held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for 
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 
Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in 
statement of profit or loss.

The Scheme determines the fair value of its investment property after every six months through an independent qualified 
valuer fulfilling the minimum criteria stated by the REIT Regulations, 2015. The valuer under REIT Regulations, 2015 is 
required to carry out valuation on three approaches and explicitly state the approach that is most appropriate for the Scheme. 
The valuer has stated that Income Capitalisation Approach - "Projected Net Operating Income (NOI) based on existing rental 
agreements and expected rent for the vacant area" is the most appropriate / relevant approach used for income producing 
properties i.e. rental properties.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits associated with the items will flow to the Scheme and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Financial Instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Rent receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Scheme becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.2.2

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 
A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) 
- debt investment, fair value through OCI - equity investment, or fair value through profit or loss (if any).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Scheme changes its business model for 
managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
 the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
 financial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
 the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Scheme may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. On 
initial recognition, the Scheme may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be 
measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch 
that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets - Business model assessment 

The Scheme makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information 
considered includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include 
 whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual mark-up income, maintaining a particular mark-up 
 rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash 
 outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Scheme's management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
 and how those risks are managed;

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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- how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the 
 assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
 expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not  considered sales for 
this purpose, consistent with the Scheme's continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets - Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 'Interest' 
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as 
well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Scheme considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could 
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, 
the Scheme considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
- prepayment and extension features; and
- terms that limit the Scheme's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include 
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a 
discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substan-
tially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable 
compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is 
insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets- Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
    any interest or dividend income, are recognised in statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
cost    method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
    exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 
    loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 
    using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
    are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On 
    derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

Equity investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 
    income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
    cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never 
    reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities - Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is 
classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and 
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in 
profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Scheme derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Scheme neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Scheme enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but retains 
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not 
derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Scheme derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The 
Scheme also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid 
(including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Scheme currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment on financial assets

The Scheme recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost;
- debt instruments measured at FVOCI, if any; and
- contract assets, if any.
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The Scheme measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 
12-month ECLs:

- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date, if any; and
- other debt securities and bank balances, if any for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
 expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Scheme considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Scheme's historical 
experience and informed credit assessment, that includes inducing forward-looking information.

The Scheme assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Scheme considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the customer is unlikely to pay its balance to the Scheme in full, without recourse by the Scheme to actions such as 
 realizing security (if any is held); or
- the financial asset is past due for more than 180 days.

The Scheme considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood 
definition of ‘investment grade'.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-months ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Scheme is 
exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Scheme expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Scheme assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are credit-impaired. A 
financial asset is 'credit-impaired ' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
- a breach of contract such as a default or being past due for more than the agreed term;
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Scheme on terms that the Scheme would not consider otherwise;
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3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Scheme has no reasonable expectations of recovering 
a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Scheme makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount 
of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Scheme expects no significant recovery from 
the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to 
comply with the Scheme's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to ascertain whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised, as an expense in the statement of profit or loss, for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Value in 
use is determined through discounting of the estimated future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the assets. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and term deposit receipts having maturity of not more than three 
months.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Scheme has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, and 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of that can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and accordingly adjusted to reflect current best 
estimate.

Taxation

Income of the Scheme is exempt from income tax under clause 99 of the Part I of the 2nd Schedule of the Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001, subject to the condition that not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year as reduced by capital 
gains, whether realised or unrealised, is distributed in cash amongst the unit holders, provided that for the purpose of 
determining distribution of not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year, the income distributed through bonus units 
shall not be taken into account.

The Scheme is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the Second 
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

Revenue Recognition

- Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a straight line basis over the non-cancellable 
 period of the lease, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use / benefit 
 derived from the investment property is diminished.

- Revenue from marketing activities is recognised when the event is performed.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the 
Scheme has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Scheme's accounting policies and disclosure require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities

When one is available, the Scheme measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for 
that instrument. A market is regarded as 'active' if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Scheme uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors 
that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Scheme measures assets and long 
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short position at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e. the fair 
value of the consideration given or received. If the Scheme determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability 
nor based on valuation technique for which any unobservable input are judged to be insignificant in related to the measure-
ment, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value 
on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or 
the transaction is closed out.

Earnings per unit (EPU)

The Scheme presents basic and diluted earnings per unit data for its ordinary units. Basic EPU is calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss attributable to unitholders of the Scheme by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 
Diluted EPU is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to unitholders and the weighted average number of 
unitholders outstanding after the effects of all dilutive potential units.

Net assets value per unit

The net assets value (NAV) per unit as disclosed on the statement of financial position is calculated by dividing the net assets 
of the Scheme by the number of units outstanding at the year end.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Scheme's unitholders and appropriation to reserve is recognised in the financial statements as a 
liability in the period in which these dividend are approved. However, if these are approved after the reporting period but 
before the financial statements are authorised for issue, they are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.12

4.

4.1

4.2

Finance income and finance cost

The Scheme's finance income and finance costs include:

- interest income;
- interest expense; and
- the foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities.

Finance income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instruments to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating finance income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset 
(when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become 
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Add: Unrealised gain on remeasurement of fair value  
of investment property
Carrying amount at the end of the year

The investment property comprise of buildings on leasehold land named as the "DOLMEN CITY MALL" and the “HARBOUR 
FRONT”, comprising of two Basements (460,438 square feet), Ground floor (241,052 square feet), Mezzanine Floor (19,879 
square feet), First floor (275,399 square feet), Second floor (272,972 square feet), Plant and Transformer Rooms (27,667 
square feet), Third to Nineteenth floors (270,271 square feet) having a total covered area of 1,567,678 square feet with 
15,201.68 square yards undivided share in the Plot bearing No. HC-3, Block 4, KDA, Scheme 5, Marine Drive, Karachi.

Rental income and marketing income earned from investment property for the year ended 30 June 2022 amounted to Rs. 
3,574 million and Rs. 221 million (2021: Rs. 2,939 million and Rs. 147 million) respectively.

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property have been disclosed in note 18 to these financial statements.

The investment property has been valued by Tristar International Consultant (Private) Limited ('the Valuer') as at 30 June 
2022 and 30 June 2021, who is independent valuer. The Valuer is enlisted with Pakistan Bank's Association and Pakistan 
Engineering Council and has experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The Valuer used all 
prescribed approaches to value the investment property as per the clause 7 (a) of Schedule VI to the REIT Regulations, 2015. 
The valuations are summarised below:

Cost approach
Sales comparison approach
Income capitalization approach - using capitalization rate  of 6% (2021: 6%) 

(a) Valuer’s assessment of rental income
(b) On projected Net Operating Income (NOI) based on existing rental
 agreements and expected rent for the vacant area 

 50,413,476 

 5,920,721 
 56,334,197 

 56,334,197 

 6,486,992 
 62,821,1894.1

Note
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

 33,165,329 
 70,951,198 

57,168,543 

56,334,197

 37,299,627 
 78,561,058 

63,019,291 

62,821,189 

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------
20212022

20212022
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5.

5.1

The clause 7 (c) of Schedule VI to the REIT Regulations, 2015, states that the Valuer shall provide an explanation of the 
relative strengths and weakness of various approaches and explicitly state the approach that is most appropriate for the REIT 
Scheme. The valuer in its valuation report has stated that out of three approaches identified in REIT Regulations, 2015 
“income capitalisation approach” is the most appropriate approach used for income producing properties i.e. rental properties. 
The valuer has determined two values under income capitalisation approach as stated above, however recommended that 
the valuation on the projected NOI based on existing rental agreements and expected rent for the vacant area is most
appropriate for the Scheme. Accordingly, investment property has been valued in these financial statements under income 
capitalisation approach using 6% capitalisation rate on projected NOI based on the existing rental agreements and expected 
rent for the vacant area.

The forced sales value of the investment property is assessed to be Rs. 62,849 million (2021: Rs. 56,761 million).

The fair value measurement for the investment property has been categorised within Level 3 fair value hierarchy which is 
considered as highest and best use of investment property. The fair value has been carried out considering following inputs:

Projected net operating income
Capitalization rate
Fair value

Sensitivity analysis

Change in each of the below significant unobservable input would have effect on fair value of investment property as shown 
below. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and is performed on the same basis as for annual 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021.

- Projected income (based on existing leasing contracts)
- Projected income (based on existing leasing contracts)
- Projected operating costs 
- Projected operating costs 
- Capitalization rate
- Capitalization rate

RENT RECEIVABLES

Rent receivables
Less: impairment loss

The ageing of the total rent receivables as at the reporting date is as under:

Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due over 180 days

 3,380,052 
6%

 56,334,197 

 3,769,271 
6%

 62,821,189 

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

5.2
5.1

Note

 202,072 
 (41,155)
 160,917 

 211,211 
 (52,744)
 158,467

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------
20212022

20212022

20212022

Change in
input

+ 5%
- 5%
+ 5%
- 5%
+ 1%
- 1%

 3,308,165 
 (3,308,165)

 (491,455)
 491,455 

 (8,047,742)
 11,266,839 

 3,716,268 
 (3,716,268)

 (575,208)
 575,208 

 (8,974,456)
 12,564,238 

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

Effect on fair value

 -   
 735 
 948 

 51,061 
 52,744 

 Net Gross Weighted
average
loss rate

2022

 Impairment

 13,205 
 81,542 
 8,316 

 108,148 
 211,211 

 13,205 
 80,807 
 7,368 

 57,087 
 158,467

0%
1%
11%
47%

------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------
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5.1.1

5.1.2

5.2

5.3

Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due over 180 days

The rent receivables from tenants are secured against the security deposits held by the Scheme.

Balances over 180 days includes sales tax amounting to Rs. 34.606 million (2021: Rs. 34.606 million) which have not been 
paid by the tenants due to stay order granted by Honourable High Court of Sindh (SHC). The SHC in its judgment dated 18 
August 2017 disposed-off the petitions initiated on 31 July 2015 in favour of petitioners  and struck down the levy on renting 
of immovable property services. However, Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) has challenged the decision of the (SHC) in the 
Supreme Court of Pakistan (SCP) which is pending adjudication. Subsequently, through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services 
(Amendment) Act, 2018 has amended the definition of economic activity by inclusion of "supply of provision of immovable 
property by way of lease rent, license or other similar arrangement" under the purview of economic activity as defined under 
Sindh Sales Tax Act, 2011 (SSTA Act, 2011) and has also amended section 84 of the SSTA Act, 2011 to retrospectively apply 
the aforesaid amendment brought through the Amendment Act, 2018 to provide legal cover to all the notices and proceedings 
issued or initiated by SRB. The management of RMC, based on opinion from tax advisors, believes that the Amendment Act, 
2018 does not address the aspect whether or not renting of immovable property is a 'service' which has been held as 'not a 
service' by SHC in its decision. Based on above, the management is not charging the SST on invoices to their customers. If 
such decision of SHC is reversed by SCP then due SST will be recovered accordingly unless directed otherwise by SCP in 
its order, and the same fact has also been mentioned on the rent invoices. On 13 June 2022, SHC vide CP No. D3694 granted 
stay order till next date of hearing that SRB shall not take any adverse action against the Scheme pursuant to impugned 
amendment. If the matter is decided in favour of the SRB, the total exposure in respect of sales tax as at 30 June 2022 is Rs. 
629 million (2021: Rs. 519 million).

Movement of impairment loss on rent receivables:

Opening provision
Charge for the year
Closing provision

Expected lifetime credit losses for rent receivables are recognised using the simplified approach. This is based on loss rates 
calculated from historical and forward-looking data, taking into account the business model, the respective customer and the 
economic environment of the geographical region. The loss allowance has been determined considering, both collectively and 
individually assessed rent receivables.

The Scheme writes off rent receivables when there is information indicating that the tenant is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the tenant has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankrupt-
cy proceedings.

Rent receivables due from related parties:

Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited

2021

 41,155 
 -   

 41,155 

 41,155 
 11,589 
 52,744 

2022
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

 -   
 -   
 -   

 41,155 
 41,155 

 Net Gross Weighted
average
loss rate

2021

 Impairment

 3,501 
 58,484 
 30,912 

 109,175 
 202,072 

 3,501 
 58,484 
 30,912 
 68,020 

 160,917 

0%
0%
0%
38%

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

---------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------
 Net Past due

amountGross

2022

 Impairment

 466 
 86 
 85 
 66 

 703 

 466 
 86 
 85 
 66 

 703 

 466 
 86 
 85 
 66 
 703 

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------
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5.4

5.5

5.6

6.

6.1

Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited
International Complex Project Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited

Ageing analysis of rent receivables from related parties:

Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due over 180 days

Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due over 180 days

The maximum aggregate amount due from the related parties at the end of any month during the year are as follows:

Sindbad Wonder Land (Private) Limited
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
Retail Avenue (Private) Limited
International Complex Project Limited

The balances from International Complex Project Limited has been divided equally into Al-Feroz (Private) Limited and Dolmen 
(Private) Limited in line with the scheme of arrangement (note 1.2).

ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS

Unsecured - considered good
Advances
Security deposits

This includes advance to CDCPL amounting to Rs. 2.73 million (2021: Rs. 0.67 million) for payment of unclaimed dividend to 
unit holders.

 5,283 
 -   

 234 
 748 
 171 

 6,436 

 11,706 
 86 
 85 
 66 

 -   
 11,943 

----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------
20212022

2021

 1,517 
 959 

 2,476 

 11,055 
 959 

 12,014 

2022

6.1

Note
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 Net Past due
amountGross

2021

 Impairment

 2,028 
 171 
 66 

 2,265 

 2,028 
 171 
 66 

 2,265 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

 NetGross

2022

 Impairment

 -   
 -   
 -   

 703 
 703 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 703 
 703 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

 NetGross

2021

 Impairment

 -   
 1,563 

 -   
 702 

 2,265 

 -   
 1,563 

 -   
 702 

 2,265 

 2,028 
 171 
 66 

 2,265
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2021

 208,859 
 (4,728)

 204,131 

 211,999 
 (4,728)

 207,271 

2022

6.1

Note
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

2021

 600,000 
 40,729 

 640,729 

 617,589 
 43,978 

 661,567 

2022

8.1

Note
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

7.

7.1

8.

8.1

9.

9.1

10.

10.1

10.2

ADVANCE TAX 

Advance tax
Provision for impairment

This pertains to tax deducted by tenants due to unavailability of tax exemption certificate of the Scheme at the time of payment 
of rental and marketing income. The tenants whose receivables have been fully provided in the previous years, advance tax 
amounting to Rs. 4.728 million (2021: Rs. 4.728 million) pertaining to them has also been provided.

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

At amortized cost
Term deposit receipts having original maturity 
- less than three months
- more than three months

This represents term deposit receipts (TDRs) with an Islamic bank carrying expected profit rates ranging from 14.50% to 
15.50% (2021: 6.75% to 7.30%) per annum with maturities upto 20 December 2022. These also include security deposits 
received by the Scheme from tenants which are kept in separate bank account in accordance with the requirements of section 
217 of the Companies Act, 2017.

BANK BALANCES

Saving accounts

This represents deposits held in riba free saving accounts carrying expected profit rates ranging from 3.5% to 15.0% (2021: 
2.5% to 6.9%) per annum.

UNIT HOLDER'S FUNDS

Issued, subscribed and paid up units

        Ordinary units of Rs 10 each Fully paid for 
        consideration other than cash (against property)
        Fully paid in cash

Pattern of unit holding

Dolmen (Private) Limited
Al-Feroze (Private) Limited
General Public
International Complex Projects Limited (ICPL)

2021

 734,285  950,206 

2022

9.1

Note
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

2021

 16,677,750 
 5,559,250 

 22,237,000 

 16,677,750 
 5,559,250 

 22,237,000 

2022
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

20212022

 -   
 -   

 555,925,000 
 1,667,775,000 
 2,223,700,000 

 - 
 - 

25%
75%

100%

Units heldPercentage
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

 833,887,500 
 833,887,500 
 555,925,000 

 -  
 2,223,700,000 

37.5%
37.5%

25%
-

100%

Units heldPercentage
----------- (Rupees in '000) -----------

2021

 1,667,775,000 
 555,925,000 

 2,223,700,000 

 1,667,775,000 
 555,925,000 

 2,223,700,000 

2022
------------ Number of Units ------------
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2021

 20,731 
 4,382 

 25,113 

 27,284 
 5,234 

 32,518 

2022

12.1
12.2

Note
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

2021

 75,038 
 45,093 
 22,444 
 22,237 
 16,134 
 11,980 
 15,054 
 1,781 

 124 
 7,390 

 217,275 

 135,077 
 48,375 
 33,252 
 22,237 
 17,420 
 11,980 
 5,138 

 599 
 124 

 10,841 
 285,043 

2022

14.1

14.2

14.3
14.4

Note
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

10.3

10.4

11.

11.1

11.2

12.

12.1

12.2

13.

14.

The units held by ICPL were transferred to its associated undertakings i.e. Dolmen (Private) Limited and Al-Feroze (Private) 
Limited, as per the scheme of arrangement (refer note 1.2).

These fully paid ordinary units carry one vote per unit and equal right to dividend.

CAPITAL RESERVES

Premium on issue of units - net

This represents premium received amounted to Rs. 555.925 million against units issued to the general public / others at strike 
price of Rs. 11 per unit, which had been adjusted with formation costs of Rs. 274.579 million during the year ended 30 June 
2015 as permitted by section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017.

Fair value 

The fair value reserve pertains to cumulative net changes in fair value of investment property which is not free for distribution 
by way of dividend.

PAYABLE TO REIT MANAGEMENT COMPANY

Management fee payable
Sindh sales tax on management fee

This includes an amount of Rs. 1.69 million (2021: Rs. 1.69 million) pertaining to sindh sales tax charged on Federal Excise 
Duty (FED) (refer note 14.3).

Under the provisions of REIT Regulations, 2015, RMC is entitled to a management fee as stated in the Offering Document 
and Information Memorandum. The management company charges fee at the rate of 3% of Net Operating Income (NOI) of 
the Scheme as per the Business Plan. The management fee is payable on quarterly basis in arrears. The Sindh Government 
has levied Sindh Sales Tax on the management fee of RMC through Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act 2011, effective from 01 
July 2014. The current applicable sales tax rate is 13%, effective from 1 July 2016.

SECURITY DEPOSITS

This represents amounts received as security deposits from tenants of the investment property under tenancy agreements. 
These are maintained in a separate bank account and invested in term deposit receipts. In the current year, classification of 
security deposits has been changed and presented as current liabilities (note 29).

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Unearned rental income
Sales tax and withholding income tax payable
Payable to associated undertakings
Monitoring fee payable to SECP
Accrued expenses
Federal Excise Duty
Trustee fee
Takaful fee
Shariah advisory fee
Other liabilities
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This represents advance rent received by the Scheme from various tenants.

Payable to associated undertakings

Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited
Al-Feroz (Private) Limited
Dolmen (Private) Limited
International Complex Projects Limited

As per the requirement of Finance Act, 2013, Federal Excise Duty (FED) at the rate of 16% on the management fee of the 
RMC has been applied. The RMC is of the view that since the remuneration is already subject to provincial sales tax, further 
levy of FED may result in double taxation, which does not appear to be the spirit of the law.

The Honorable SHC through its order dated 2 June 2016, in CPD-3184 of 2014 (and others) filed by various taxpayers, has 
inter alia declared that Federal Excise Act, 2005 (FED Act) on services, other than shipping agents and related services, is 
ultra vires to the Constitution of Pakistan from 01 July 2011. However, the declaration made by the SHC, as directed, will have 
effect in the manner prescribed in the judgment. Subsequently, the SHC in its decision dated 30 June 2016 vide CP No. 
D-3547 of 2013 in respect of constitutional petition filed by management companies of mutual funds maintained the aforesaid 
order on the FED.

The Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) and the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) have filed appeals before Supreme Court of 
Pakistan (SCP) against the SHC’s decision dated 2 June 2016, which is pending for decision. With effect from 01 July 2016, 
FED on services provided or rendered by Non-Banking Financial Institutions dealing in services which are subject to provin-
cial sales tax has been withdrawn by Finance Act, 2016. Therefore, the Scheme has discontinued making the provision in this 
regard. As a matter of abundant caution, without prejudice to the above, an accumulated provision of Rs. 11.980 million (2021: 
11.980 million) has been retained in these financial statements.

The Trustee is entitled to an annual fee for services rendered upto 0.6% of the annual NOI under the provisions of the REIT 
Regulations, 2015. However, the Trustee charged annual fee at a rate of 0.5% of the annual NOI. The Sindh Government has 
levied Sindh Sales Tax on the Trustee fee through Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act 2011, effective from 01 July 2015. The 
current applicable rate is 13%, effective from 1 July 2016.

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingencies
There are no contingencies as at 30 June 2022 except as disclosed in note 5.1.2 to these financial statements.

Commitments
There are no commitments as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

RENTAL INCOME

Minimum rent
Percentage rent

This represents rent charged to tenants based on the percentage of sales made over and above the minimum rent.

MARKETING INCOME

Marketing income
Less: sales tax on marketing income

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

 20,625 
 -   
 -   

 1,899 
 22,524 

 31,353 
 950 
 949 

 -   
 33,252 

5.6
5.6
5.6

2021

 2,874,743 
 63,918 

 2,938,661 

 3,500,974 
 72,690 

 3,573,664 

2022

16.1

Note
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

20212022Note
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

20212022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

15.

15.1

15.2

16.

16.1

17.

 153,767 
 (6,374)

 147,393 

 230,178 
 (8,642)

 221,536 
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18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

19.

20.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATING EXPENSES

Property management fee
Ancillary income collection fee
Marketing expenses
Common area maintenance charges
Renovation expense
Takaful fee
SECP monitoring fee
Property and advertisement taxes
Legal and professional charges
Auditors' remuneration
Utility expenses
Shariah advisory fee
Others

Property management fee and ancillary income collection fee are charged by Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) 
Limited as a Property Manager.

Under the provision of REIT Regulations, 2015, the Scheme is required to pay an annual fee to SECP equal to 0.1% of 
initial REIT Fund.

Auditors' remuneration

Fee for annual audit
Fee for the review of condensed interim financial statements
Fee for review of code of corporate governance
Certifications / others
Out of pocket expenses

Sindh Sales Tax

These represent direct operating expenses arising from investment property.

OTHER INCOME 

Profit on bank deposits and TDRs
Reversal of accruals - expenses no more payable

TAXATION

The Scheme's income is exempt from Income Tax as per clause (99) of part I of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001, subject to the condition that not less than 90% of the accounting income for the year as reduced by capital 
gains whether realised or unrealised is distributed amongst the unit holders, provided that for the purpose of determining 
distribution of not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year, the income distributed through bonus units shall not be 
taken into account.

The Board of Directors of the RMC have distributed more than 90% of the Scheme's accounting income for the year as 
reduced by capital gains (whether realised or unrealised) to its unit holders in the form of cash to avail the exemption through 
distribution of interim dividends during the year and declaration and distribution of final dividend subsequent to year end (refer 
note 31). Accordingly, no tax provision has been made in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

18.1 & 18.4
18.1 & 18.4

18.4
18.4
18.4
18.4
18.2
18.4

18.3
18.4

Note

 200,939 
 25,816 
 30,170 
 48,125 
 34,619 
 17,244 
 22,237 
 12,374 
 15,206 
 2,336 
 1,276 

 249 
 11,093 

 421,684 

2021

 244,138 
 35,425 
 49,968 
 46,347 
 40,014 
 27,311 
 22,237 
 17,303 
 8,488 
 4,574 
 1,235 

 249 
 7,492 

 504,781 

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

Note

 1,200 
 500 
 100 
 175 
 188 

 2,163 
 173 

 2,336 

2021

 2,000 
 600 
 200 

 1,200 
 235 

 4,235 
 339 

 4,574 

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

Note 20212022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

8.1 & 9.1  86,611 
 43,661 

 130,272 

 126,748 
 -   

 126,748 
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21.

21.1

21.1.1

21.1.2

22.

23.

23.1

23.2

EARNINGS PER UNIT - BASIC AND DILUTED

Profit for the year

Weighted average number of ordinary units at 30 June

Earnings per unit- basic and diluted

Earnings per unit comprises as follows:

Distributable Income - earnings per unit
Undistributable unrealised fair value gains - earnings per unit

Under the provisions of the Trust Deed, the amount available for distribution shall be total of income and realised gain net off 
expenses. Accordingly, unrealised fair value gain is undistributable.

There is no impact of dilution on earnings per unit as the Scheme did not have any convertible instruments in issue as at 30 
June 2022 and 30 June 2021 which would have had any effect on the earnings per unit if the option to convert had been 
exercised.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Short-term investments
Bank balances

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

As per REIT Regulations, 2015, the services provided under REIT Regulations, 2015 or the Trust Deed or Offering Document, 
by the RMC, Trustee, Valuer, Property Manager are not deemed related party transactions.

Related parties include Arif Habib Dolmen REIT Management Limited being the Management Company, Central Depository 
Company of Pakistan Limited, being the Trustee to the Scheme, Tristar International Consultant (Private) Limited being Valuer, 
Dolmen Real Estate Management (Private) Limited, being Property Manager and connected person, associated companies, 
directors and key executives of the RMC, trustee, valuer and promoter of RMC including their close relatives.

Transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business, at contracted rates and terms determined in
accordance with commercial rates. There are no potential conflicts of interest of the related parties with respect to the 
Scheme.

There are no related parties incorporated outside Pakistan with whom the Scheme had entered into transactions during the 
year.

Details of the transactions with related parties and balances with them, if not disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements 
are as follows:        
        

Note

 8,609,987

2021

 9,762,893

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

8
9

Note

 600,000 
 734,285 

 1,334,285 

2021

 617,589 
 950,206 

 1,567,795 

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

10.1  2,223,700,000  2,223,700,000 

----------- (Number of units) -----------

21.1  3.87  4.39 

---------------- (Rupees) ----------------

---------------- (Rupees) ----------------

21.1.1

 1.21 
 2.66 
 3.87 

 1.47 
 2.92 
 4.39 
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2021

48,125 
63,385 

1,017 
 10 

874 

 48,416 
 48,416 

 1,851,230 

 8,672 
 9,033 

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
 468 
 468 

 -   

 18,496 
 16,934 

-   

-  

46,347 
39,590 

919 
-   

918 

 23,461 
 23,461 

 1,100,732 

 10,851 
 10,851 

 16,423 
 16,423 

 633,755 

16,423 
 -   

 16,423 
 633,755 

 45,755 
 47,317 

 1,485 

 1,434 

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

23.3 Transactions during the year:

Name of the 
related party

Dolmen Real
Estate Management 
(Private) Limited

International 
Complex Projects
Limited

Retail Avenue 
(Private) Limited

Al-Feroz
(Private) Limited

Dolmen
(Private) Limited

Sindbad
Wonderland
(Private) Limited

Arif Habib Dolmen
REIT Management
Limited

Relationship and
percentage unitholding

Property Manager

Common directorship 
(2021: Parent company
holding 75% units)

Common
directorship

Associated company holding 
37.5% units (2021: Common
directorship)

Associated company holding 
37.5% units
(2021: Common
directorship)

Common
directorship

Management Company

Transactions during
the year

Common area maintenance charges
Common area maintenance paid
Expenses incurred on behalf of the
   Scheme
Reversal of accrual
Reimbursement of expenses
incurred on behalf of the Scheme

Rental income
Rentals received
Dividend paid

Rental income
Rentals received

Rental income
Rentals received
Dividend paid

Rental income
Marketing Income
Rentals received
Dividend paid

Rental income
Rentals received

Expenses incurred on
behalf of the Scheme
Reimbursement of expenses
incurred on behalf of the Scheme
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2021

 2,088 

 1,782 

 458 

 171 

 1,819 

 80 

 -   

 
-   

 -   

 234 

 
-   

 -   

 66 

 2,028 

 
-   

 8,845 

 1,783 

 458 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 86 

 910 

 40 

 85 

 909 

 40 

 66 

 466 

 51 

2022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

23.4 Balances outstanding at the year end:

Name of the 
related party

Dolmen Real
Estate Management 
(Private) Limited

International 
Complex Projects
Limited

Al-Feroz
(Private) Limited

Dolmen
(Private) Limited

Retail Avenue 
(Private) Limited

Sindbad
Wonderland
(Private) Limited

Arif Habib Dolmen
REIT Management
Limited

Relationship and
percentage unitholding

Property Manager

Common directorship 
(2021: Parent company
holding 75% units)

Associated company 
holding 37.5% units
(2021: Common
directorship)

Associated company 
holding 37.5% units
(2021: Common
directorship)

Common
directorship

Common
directorship

Management Company

Transactions during
the year

Common area
maintenance charges
Expenses payable incurred
on behalf of the Scheme
Payable of withheld security 
deposit of tenants

Rent receivable
Net payable in respect of 
purchase consideration of 
investment property
Payable against purchase of
equipment for maintenance

Rent receivable
Net payable in respect of 
purchase consideration of 
investment property
Payable against purchase of
equipment for maintenance

Rent receivable
Net payable in respect of 
purchase consideration of 
investment property
Payable against purchase of
equipment for maintenance

Rent receivable

Rent receivable

Expenses payable incurred
on behalf of the Scheme

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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24.

25.

25.1

25.2

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Balance as at 1 July

Changes from financing cash flows
Dividend paid

Liability - related other changes
Dividend declared

Balance as at 30 June

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management framework

The Scheme's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks namely credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. The 
Scheme manage these risk through monitoring and controlling activities which are primarily set up to be performed based on 
limits established in the Scheme's constitutive documents and REIT Regulation, 2015 and directives of the SECP. The Board 
of Directors of RMC supervises the overall risk management approach within the Scheme.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk which arises with the possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge its obligation 
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Scheme attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, 
limiting transactions with specific counterparties and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties and arises 
principally from the Scheme’s rent receivables, security deposits, short-term investments and deposits with banks.

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 June:

Financial Asset 

Rent receivables
Security deposit*
Accrued profit on deposits
Short-term investments
Bank balances

* Advances that are not financial assets amounting to Rs. 11 million (2021: 1.5 million) are not included.

The RMC and property manager monitors tenants’ balances on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the 
property manager before lease agreements are entered into with tenants.

The exposure of credit risk and ECL relating to rent receivables and impairment loss on rent receivables have been disclosed 
in note 5 to these financial statements.

The Scheme has placed its funds (i.e. short-term investments and bank balances) with banks having sound credit ratings. The 
credit quality of Scheme's major balances can be assessed with reference of external credit ratings as follows:

 15,203 

 (2,471,710)

 2,468,307 

 11,800 

 11,800 

 (3,156,219)

 3,157,654 

 13,235 

Unclaimed dividend
20212022

------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

 160,917 
 959 

 7,489 
 640,729 
 734,285 

 1,544,379 

 158,467 
 959 

 8,671 
 661,567 
 950,206 

 1,779,870 

20212022
------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------
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25.3

% of total
balance

Long term 
rating

(Rupees in
'000)

Rating 
Agency

Short term 
rating

Bank

National Bank of Pakistan
Askari Bank Limited
Dubai Islamic Bank
Habib Bank Limited
Faysal Bank Limited
Bank Al Habib Limited
United Bank Limited
Meezan Bank Limited

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Scheme will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets. The Scheme’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as 
far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed condi-
tions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Scheme’s reputation.

The table below analyses the Scheme's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the reporting date to the maturity date.

Financial liabilities

Payable to REIT Management Company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and other liabilities*
Unclaimed dividend 

* Other liabilities that are not financial liabilities (unearned rental income, sales tax and withholding income tax payable and 
Federal Excise Duty amounting to Rs. 135 million, 48 million and 12 million respectively) are not included.

Financial liabilities

Payable to REIT Management Company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and other liabilities*
Unclaimed dividend

*Other liabilities that are not financial liabilities (unearned rental income, sales tax and withholding income tax payable and 
Federal Excise Duty amounting to Rs. 75 million, 45 million and 12 million respectively) are not included.

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 
different amounts.

The Scheme manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash in bank accounts. At 30 June 2022, the Scheme had 
financial assets of Rs 1,780 million (2021: Rs 1,544 million), which include Rs 950 million (2021: Rs 734 million) of cash placed 
in bank accounts.

46.31%
41.70%
11.36%
0.44%
0.14%
0.05%
0.00%
0.00%
100%

 746,518 
 672,055 
 183,129 

 7,084 
 2,231 

 733 
 15 
 8 

 1,611,773

AAA
AA+
AA

AAA
AA

AAA
AAA
AAA

A-1+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1+

PACRA
PACRA

VIS
VIS

PACRA
PACRA

VIS
VIS

 
32,518 

 459,297 
 89,611 
 13,235 

 594,661 

------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------

More than
one year

Contractual
cash flows

Carrying
amount

2022
One year
or less

 
32,518 

 459,297 
 89,611 
 13,235 

 594,661 

 
-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 
32,518 

 459,297 
 89,611 
 13,235 

 594,661 

 

25,113 
 405,983 
 85,164 
 11,800 

 528,060 

------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------

More than
one year

Contractual
cash flows

Carrying
amount

2021
One year
or less

 

25,113 
 405,983 
 85,164 
 11,800 

 528,060 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 25,113 
 405,983 
 85,164 
 11,800 

 528,060 
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25.4

25.5

25.6

25.7

26.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the 
market price. Market risk comprise of three types of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. It arises where receivables and payable exist due to transactions in foreign currency. The Scheme is not 
exposed to currency risk as of reporting date. There are no foreign currency denominated financial instruments held by the 
Scheme.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The interest rate exposure arises from bank balances and investments in term deposit receipts (TDRs) 
in profit or loss.

The Scheme does not have any fixed rate financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss, therefore, the Scheme is not 
exposed to fair value changes for fixed rate instruments. However the bank and term deposit at variable rates expose the 
Scheme to fluctuations in cash flow due to change in market profit rates. The cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate of 
instrument is depicted below:

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) equity and profit or loss 
by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as carried out in June 2021.

As at 30 June 2022
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments

As at 30 June 2021
Cash flow sensitivity - variable rate instruments

Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). The Scheme is not exposed to other price 
risk.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Management's objective when managing unit holder's funds is to safeguard the Scheme's ability to continue as a going 
concern so that it can continue to provide optimum returns based on income earned and realized gains as per trust deed to 
its unit holders and to ensure reasonable safety of unit holder's funds. The Scheme is not exposed to externally imposed 
minimum unit holder's maintenance requirement.

The Scheme manages its investment property and other assets by monitoring return on net assets and makes adjustment to 
it in the light of changes in market conditions. The Scheme also manages its capital using a gearing ratio. The gearing ratio of 
the Scheme is as follows:

16,118 

13,750 

-------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------

100 bps 
decrease

100 bps 
increase

Profit or loss Equity
100 bps 
decrease

100 bps 
increase

(16,118)

(13,750)

(16,118)

(13,750)

16,118 

13,750 
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27.

27.1

Debt
Total unit holders' fund
Total capital

Gearing ratio

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Scheme uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as 
follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
 indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (i.e., unobservable inputs).

Accounting classifications and fair values of financial instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels 
in the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value. It does not include fair value information for financial 
assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Financial assets - not
   measured at fair value

Rent receivables
Security deposit
Accrued profit on deposits
Short-term investments
Bank balances

Financial liabilities - not
   measured at fair value

Payable to REIT
Management Company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and
other liabilities
Unclaimed dividend

 -   
 57,424,053 
57,424,053 

-

 -   
 64,029,292 
64,029,292 

-

20212022

Note Financial
assets' at
fair value

through other
comprehensive

income

Financial
assets 'at
fair value
through
profit or

loss'

Financial
assets 'at
amortised

cost'

Other
financial
liabilities

Total Level 1
Fair value

2022
Carrying amount

Level 2 Level 3 Total

------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------

158,467 
 959 

 8,671 
 661,567 
 950,206 

 1,779,870 

 32,518
  459,297
 

 89,611 
 13,235 

 594,661 

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 32,518
  459,297
 

 89,611 
 13,235 

 594,661 

158,467 
 959 

 8,671 
 661,567 
 950,206 

 1,779,870 

 

-
    -
   

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 -
    -
   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 -   
 -   
 

-   
 -
-      

27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1

27.1.1

27.1.1

27.1.1
27.1.1

---------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------
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---------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------

The Scheme has not disclosed fair values for these financial assets and financial liabilities because their carrying amounts 
are reasonable approximation of fair value.

Fair value hierarchy of the investment property has been disclosed in note 4 to these financial statements.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE SCHEME OPERATIONS

In Pakistan, the businesses are still recovering from an unprecedented challenge risen out of situation due to COVID-19. 
Initially, it was expected to be a short term aberration. However, the situation not only persisted for far longer than anticipated 
but also the associated uncertainties continue unabated. The businesses, while complying with the Government's directives, 
lost their revenue and even when the Malls were allowed to reopen, tenants were not able to restore their businesses fully 
and their sales were significantly impacted due to curbs and SOP’s placed by the provincial government.

The REIT Management Company continuously responded by intensifying customer engagement through digital platforms to 
encourage footfall and retail sales upon reopening with the implementation of prescribed customer safety protocols. Efforts 
were also intensified to strengthen the valuable long term tenant relationships by proactive negotiations to support tenant 
retention in these challenging times. Tenants belonging to food and entertainment sector at the Dolmen City Mall were
provided with rental waivers from month to month after carefully assessing the overall situation. The Scheme provided rental 
waivers and delayed escalations to its tenants, the total impact of which is Rs. 146.79 million and Rs. 201.33 million
respectively.

As a result of tight control measures, efforts to curtail the spread of virus have been successful, which enabled businesses to 
recover and with professional property management, extensive marketing activities and renowned tenants, Scheme remains 
confident that Dolmen City Mall and the Harbour Front will remain the destination of choice for shoppers, retail operators and 
corporations alike.           
           
           

27.1.1

27.1.2

28.

Financial assets - not
   measured at fair value

Rent receivables
Security deposit
Accrued profit on deposits
Short-term investments
Bank balances

Financial liabilities - not
   measured at fair value

Payable to REIT
Management Company
Security deposits
Accrued expenses and
other liabilities
Unclaimed dividend

Note Financial
assets' at
fair value

through other
comprehensive

income

Financial
assets 'at
fair value
through
profit or

loss'

Financial
assets 'at
amortised

cost'

Other
financial
liabilities

Total Level 1
Fair value

2021
Carrying amount

Level 2 Level 3 Total

 160,917 
 959 

 7,489 
 640,729 
 734,285 

 1,544,379 

 25,113
  405,983
 

 85,164 
 11,800 

 528,060 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 25,113
  405,983
 

 85,164 
 11,800 

 528,060 

 160,917 
 959 

 7,489 
 640,729 
 734,285 

 1,544,379 

 -
    -
   

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 -
    -
   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 

 -   
 -   
 

-   
 -
-      

27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1
27.1.1

27.1.1

27.1.1

27.1.1
27.1.1
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As
restated

 -   
 402,746

Impact
due to
change

 (204,398)
 204,398

As
previously
reported

 204,398 
 198,348

As
restated

 -   
 405,983

Impact
due to
change

 (245,671)
 245,671

As
previously
reported

1 July 202030 June 2021

 245,671 
 160,312

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

As
stated

ImpactAs
previously
reported

As
stated

ImpactAs
previously
reported

1 July 202030 June 2021

-------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

SECURITY DEPOSITS - CORRECTION OF ERROR

Upto 30 June 2021, the security deposits received from tenants / Lessees were erroneously classified as non-current 
liabilities based on term of the lease / rent agreements. International Accounting Standard 1 - ” Presentation of Financial 
Statements” (IAS-1) requires that an "entity shall classify a liability as current when the liability is due to be settled within 
twelve months after the 'reporting period; or it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least twelve 'months after the reporting period".

During the current year, the requirements of IAS-1 for classification of liabilities between current and non-current have been 
reconsidered as it was noted that these security deposits are adjustable with dues or any amount due from tenants / lessees 
at any point of time and cancelable period of lease / rent agreement is generally not more than three months. Accordingly, due 
to the nature of the security deposits the classification of the security deposits has been changed and presented as current 
liabilities as at 30 June 2022 with retrospective effect and accordingly comparatives have been restated.

Effect on statement of financial position

Security Deposit - Non-current Liabilities
Security Deposit - Current Liabilities

There is no impact on the Scheme statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
unit holders' fund or statement of cash flows.

RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVES

The reserves have been classified into capital and revenue reserves in accordance with the requirements of Fourth Schedule 
of Companies Act, 2017 and the advance tax has been presented as a separate line item in accordance with the requirements 
of IAS 1. Details of the reclassification of the corresponding figures is as follows:

Effect on statement of financial position

Advances and deposits
Advance tax
Reserves
Capital Reserves
Revenue Reserve

The above reclassifications have no impact on the statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in unit holders' fund or statement of cash flows.

29.

30.

 16,422 
 266,437 

 -   
 28,457,822 

 587,551 

 (266,437)
 266,437 

(29,045,373)
 28,457,822 

 587,551 

 282,859 
 -   

 29,045,373 
 -   
 -   

 2,476 
 204,131 

 -   
 34,378,543 

 808,510 

 (204,131)
 204,131 

(35,187,053)
 34,378,543 

 808,510 

 206,607 
 -   

 35,187,053 
 -   
 -   
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

The Board of Directors of the RMC in their meeting held on 7 July 2022 have declared and approved an final cash dividend 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 of Re. 0.41 per unit (2021: Re. 0.33 per unit) amounting to Rs 911.72 million (2021: Rs. 
733.82 million). The financial statements do not include the effect of above announcement which will be accounted for in the 
financial statements of the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 2023.

DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the REIT Management Company on 
September 28, 2022.

31.

32.

Chief Executive OfficerChief Financial Officer Director
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548,138

256,510

804,648

532,586

256,510

789,096

Dolmen Mall Cli�on, 15,552

The Harbour Front, 0 

Total, 15,552

97.16%

100.00%

98.07%
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